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IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA 
 
FRONT SIGHT MANAGEMENT LLC, a 
Nevada Limited Liability Company, 
 
 Petitioner, 
vs. 
 
THE EIGHTH JUDICIAL DISTRICT 
COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA, 
IN AND FOR THE COUNTY OF CLARK; 
and THE HONORABLE TIMOTHY C. 
WILLIAMS, DISTRICT COURT JUDGE,  
 
 Respondents, 
 
and 
 
LAS VEGAS DEVELOPMENT FUND 
LLC, a Nevada Limited Liability Company; 
EB5 IMPACT CAPITAL REGIONAL 
CENTER LLC, a Nevada Limited Liability 
Company; EB5 IMPACT ADVISORS 
LLC, a Nevada Limited Liability Company; 
ROBERT W. DZIUBLA, individually and 
as President and CEO of LAS VEGAS 
DEVELOPMENT FUND LLC and EB5 
IMPACT ADVISORS LLC; JON 
FLEMING, individually and as an agent of 
LAS VEGAS DEVELOPMENT FUND 
LLC and EB5 IMPACT ADVISORS LLC; 
LINDA STANWOOD, individually and as 
Senior Vice President of LAS VEGAS 
DEVELOPMENT FUND LLC and EB5 
IMPACT ADVISORS LLC, 
 
 Real Parties in Interest. 

 
No.: __________________ 
 
Dist. Ct. Case No: A-18-781084-B 
 

 
 
 

  
 

 
  

Electronically Filed
Sep 11 2020 04:37 p.m.
Elizabeth A. Brown
Clerk of Supreme Court

Docket 81776   Document 2020-33654
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PETITION FOR WRIT OF MANDAMUS, OR ALTERNATIVELY, 

PROHIBITION 

 

PETITIONER’S APPENDIX 

VOLUME XV 
 

John P. Aldrich, Esq. 
Nevada Bar No. 6877 

Jamie S. Hendrickson, Esq. 
Nevada Bar No. 12770 

ALDRICH LAW FIRM, LTD. 
7866 West Sahara Avenue 
Las Vegas, Nevada 89117 

702-853-5490 
jaldrich@johnaldrichlawfirm.com 
jamie@johnaldrichlawfirm.com 

 
Attorneys for Petitioner 
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i 
 

CHRONOLOGICAL INDEX 
 

VOLUME I PAGES 
 
Complaint (09/14/2018) 

 
0001-0028 

 
Amended Complaint (10/04/2018)  

 
0029-0057 

 
Affidavit of Service on Robert W. Dziubla (10/17/2018) 

 
0058 

 
Affidavit of Service on Linda Stanwood (10/17/2018)  

 
0059 

 
Affidavit of Service on EB5 Impact Advisors LLC (10/17/2018)  

 
0060 

 
Affidavit of Service on EB5 Impact Capital Regional Center 
LLC (10/18/2018)  

 
0061 

 
 
Affidavit of Service on Las Vegas Development Fund LLC 
(10/18/2018)  

 
0062 

 
Affidavit of Service on Chicago Title Company (10/22/2018)  

 
0063 

 
Notice of Entry of Order Admitting to Practice (11/15/2018) 

 
0064-0068 

 
Notice of Entry of Order on Plaintiff’s Petition for Appointment 
of Receiver and for an Accounting (11/27/2018) 

 
0069-0074 

 
Notice of Entry of Order Granting Plaintiff’s Motion for 
Protective Order (11/27/2018)  

 
0075-0079 

 
Notice of Entry of Protective Order (11/27/2018) 

 
0080-0098 

 
Notice of Entry of Order Granting Temporary Restraining Order 
and Expunging Notice of Default (11/27/2018) 

 
0099-0104 

 
Order Setting Settlement Conference (12/06/2018)  

 
0105-0106 

 
Second Amended Complaint (01/04/2019)  

 
0107-0250 
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ii 
 

VOLUME II PAGES 
 
Second Amended Complaint (01/04/2019) (cont’d) 

 
0251-0322 

 
Notice of Entry of Order on Plaintiff’s Motion for Preliminary 
Injunction (01/17/2019)  

 
0323-0327 

 
Notice of Entry of Order on Plaintiff’s Renewed Motion for an 
Accounting Related to Defendants Las Vegas Development 
Fund LLC and Robert Dziubla and for Release of Funds 
(01/17/2019)  

 
0328-0332 

 
Notice of Entry of Order on Defendants’ Motion to Dismiss 
Plaintiff’s First Amended Complaint (01/17/2019)  

 
0333-0337 

 
Notice of Entry of Order on Plaintiff’s Motion to Disqualify C. 
Keith Greer as Attorney of Record for Defendants (01/25/2019)  

 
0338-0343 

 
Notice of Entry of Disclaimer of Interest of Chicago Title 
Company and Stipulation and Order for Dismissal (02/05/2019)  

 
0344-0350 

 
Defendant Las Vegas Development Fund LLC’s Motion for 
Appointment of Receiver and Request for Order Shortening 
Time (02/06/2019) 

 
0351-0378 

 
Declaration of Robert Dziubla in Support of Defendant Las 
Vegas Development Fund LLC’s Motion for Appointment of 
Receiver [redacted in district court filing] (02/06/2019) 

 
0379-0500 

  
VOLUME III PAGES 
 
Declaration of Robert Dziubla in Support of Defendant Las 
Vegas Development Fund LLC’s Motion for Appointment of 
Receiver [redacted in district court filing] (02/06/2019) (cont’d) 

 
0501-0558 

 
Declaration of C. Keith Greer in Support of Defendant’s Motion 
for Receivership (02/06/2019) 

 
0559-0601 
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iii 
 

Motion to Seal and/or Redact Pleadings and Exhibits to Protect 
Confidential Information, Motion to Amend Paragraph 2.3 of 
Protective Order, Motion for Order Shortening Time and Order 
Shortening Time (02/15/2019) 

0602-0628 

 
Notice of Entry of Order Shortening Time (02/15/2019) 

 
0629-0658 

 
Opposition Memorandum of Defendant Las Vegas 
Development Fund, LLC to Plaintiff’s Motion to Seal and/or 
Redact Pleadings and Exhibits (02/19/2019) 

 
0659-0669 

 
Opposition to Defendant Las Vegas Development Fund LLC’s 
Motion for Appointment of Receiver (02/22/2019) 

 
0670-0730 

 
Errata to Opposition to Defendant Las Vegas Development 
Fund LLC’s Motion for Appointment of Receiver (02/22/2019) 

 
0731-0740 

 
Defendant Las Vegas Development Fund LLC’s Reply to 
Plaintiff's Opposition to Defendant's Motion for Appointment of 
Receiver (02/26/2019) 

 
0741-0750 

  
VOLUME IV PAGES 
 
Defendant Las Vegas Development Fund LLC’s Reply to 
Plaintiff's Opposition to Defendant's Motion for Appointment of 
Receiver (02/26/2019) (cont’d) 

 
0751-0755 

 
Supplemental Declaration of Robert W. Dziubla in Support of 
Defendant LVD Fund’s Reply to Plaintiff's Opposition to 
Defendant’s Motion to Appointment of Receiver (02/26/2019) 

 
0756-0761 

 
Declaration of C. Keith Greer in Support of Defendant LVD 
Fund’s Reply to Plaintiff’s Opposition to Defendant’s Motion to 
Appoint Receiver (02/26/2019) 

 
0762-0769 

 
Plaintiff’s Second Motion for Temporary Restraining Order and 
Preliminary Injunction, Motion for Order Shortening Time, and 
Order Shortening Time (03/01/19) 

 
0770-0836 
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iv 
 

Defendant Las Vegas Development Fund, LLC’s Opposition to 
Plaintiff’s Second Motion for Temporary Restraining Order and 
Preliminary Injunction (03/19/2019) 

0837-0860 

 
Supplemental Declaration of Defendant Robert Dziubla in 
Support of Defendant Las Vegas Development Fund, LLC’s 
Opposition to Plaintiff’s Second Motion for Temporary 
Restraining Order and Preliminary Injunction (03/19/2019) 

 
0861-0875 

 
Notice of Entry of Order (03/19/2019) 

 
0876-0881 

 
Errata to Supplemental Declaration of Robert Dziubla in 
Support of Defendants’ Opposition to Plaintiff’s Second Motion 
for Temporary Restraining Order and Preliminary Injunction 
(03/20/2019) 

 
0882-0892 

 
Notice of Entry of Order (04/10/2019)  

 
0893-0897 

 
Notice of Entry of Order (04/10/2019)  

 
0898-0903 

 
Notice of Entry of Order (04/10/2019)  

 
0904-0909 

 
Notice of Entry of Order (04/10/2019)  

 
0910-0916 

 
Defendants’ Answer to Plaintiff’s Second Amended Complaint 
and Counterclaim (04/23/2019)  

 
0917-1000 

  
VOLUME V PAGES 
 
Defendants’ Answer to Plaintiff’s Second Amended Complaint 
and Counterclaim (04/23/2019) (cont’d) 

 
1001-1083 

 
Notice of Entry of Order (05/16/2019)  

 
1084-1089 

 
Reporter’s Transcript of Motion (Preliminary Injunction 
Hearing) (06/03/2019) 

 
1090-1250 
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v 
 

VOLUME VI PAGES 
 
Reporter’s Transcript of Motion (Preliminary Injunction 
Hearing) (06/03/2019) (cont’d) 

 
1251-1313 

 
Order Setting Settlement Conference (06/04/2019)  

 
1314-1315 

 
Acceptance of Service of Counterclaim on Counterdefendants 
Front Sight Management, LLC, Ignatius Piazza, Jennifer Piazza, 
VNV Dynasty Trust I and VNV Dynasty Trust II (06/14/2019)  

 
1316-1317 

 
Notice of Entry of Order (06/25/2019)  

 
1318-1324 

 
Notice of Entry of Stipulation and Order Regarding Defendants’ 
Judicial Foreclosure Cause of Action (06/25/2019)  

 
1325-1330 

 
Reporter’s Transcript of Preliminary Injunction Hearing 
(07/22/2019) 

 
1331-1500 

  
VOLUME VII PAGES 
 
Reporter’s Transcript of Preliminary Injunction Hearing 
(07/22/2019) (cont’d) 

 
1501-1513 

 
Reporter’s Transcript of Preliminary Injunction (07/23/2019) 

 
1514-1565 

 
Business Court Order (07/23/2019)  

 
1566-1572 

 
Order Re Rule 16 Conference, Setting Civil Jury Trial, Pre-
Trial/Calendar Call and Deadlines for Motions; Discovery 
Scheduling Order (08/20/2019)  

 
1573-1577 

 
Notice of Entry of Order Granting in Part and Denying in Part 
Counterdefendants’ Motions to Dismiss Counterclaim 
(09/13/2019) 

 
1578-1584 

 
Notice of Entry of Order Denying Plaintiff’s Motion for 
Temporary Restraining Order and Preliminary Injunction related 
to Investor Funds and Interest Payments (09/13/2019)  

 
1585-1591 
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vi 
 

Notice of Entry of Order Staying All Subpoenas For Documents 
and Depositions which were Served on Non-Parties by Plaintiff 
(09/13/2019)  

1592-1599 

 
Plaintiff’s Motion for Sanctions (09/17/2019) 

 
1600-1643 

 
Reporter’s Transcript of Hearing (Preliminary Injunction 
Hearing) (09/20/2019) 

 
1644-1750 

  
VOLUME VIII PAGES 
 
Reporter’s Transcript of Hearing (Preliminary Injunction 
Hearing) (09/20/2019) (cont’d) 

 
1751-1930 

 
Order Scheduling Hearing (09/27/2019)  

 
1931-1932 

 
Counterdefendants VNV Dynasty Trust I and VNV Dynasty 
Trust II’s Answer to Counterclaim (09/30/2019)  

 
1933-1957 

 
Counterdefendant Dr. Ignatius Piazza’s Answer to Counterclaim 
(09/30/2019)  

 
1958-1981 

 
Counterdefendant Front Sight Management LLC’s Answer to 
Counterclaim (09/30/2019)  

 
1982-2000 

  
VOLUME IX PAGES 
 
Counterdefendant Front Sight Management LLC’s Answer to 
Counterclaim (09/30/2019) (cont’d) 

 
2001-2005 

 
Counterdefendant Jennifer Piazza’s Answer to Counterclaim 
(09/30/2019)  

 
2006-2029 

 
Defendant EB5 Impact Advisors LLC’s Opposition to 
Plaintiff’s Motion for Sanctions (09/30/2019) 

 
2030-2040 

 
Declaration of Robert Dziubla in Opposition to Plaintiff’s 
Motion for Sanctions (09/30/2019) 

 
2041-2044 
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vii 
 

Reporter’s Transcript of Motions (Defendants’ Motions to 
Quash Subpoena to Wells Fargo Bank, Signature Bank, Open 
Bank and Bank of Hope) (10/09/2019)  

2045-2232 

 
Reply to Opposition to Plaintiff’s Motion for Sanctions 
(10/18/2019) 

 
2233-2250 

  
VOLUME X PAGES 
 
Reply to Opposition to Plaintiff’s Motion for Sanctions 
(10/18/2019) (cont’d) 

 
2251-2297 

 
Notice of Intent to Issue Subpoena to Lucas Horsfall, LLP 
(10/22/2019) 

 
2298-2378 

 
Notice of Intent to Issue Subpoena to Bank of America, N.A. 
(10/22/2019) 

 
2379-2459 

 
Plaintiff’s Motion to Quash Subpoenas (10/29/2019) 

 
2460-2478 

 
Defendants’ Opposition to Plaintiff’s Motion to Quash 
Subpoenas to Third Parties Bank of America and Lucas 
Horsfall, Murphy & Pindroh, LLP (11/6/2019) 

 
2479-2500 

  
VOLUME XI PAGES 
 
Defendants’ Opposition to Plaintiff’s Motion to Quash 
Subpoenas to Third Parties Bank of America and Lucas 
Horsfall, Murphy & Pindroh, LLP (11/6/2019) (cont’d) 

 
2501-2655 

 
Notice of Entry of Order Granting Defendants’ Motion to 
Advance Hearing regarding Plaintiff’s Motion to Quash 
Subpoenas (11/08/2019)  

 
2656-2660 

 
Reply to Opposition to Motion to Quash Subpoenas 
(11/15/2019) 

 
2661-2750 
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viii 
 

VOLUME XII PAGES 
 
Reply to Opposition to Motion to Quash Subpoenas 
(11/15/2019) (cont’d) 

 
2751-2776 

 
Notice of Entry of Order Shortening Time (11/15/2019) 

 
2777-2785 

 
Notice of Entry of Order Granting in Part and Denying in Part 
Defendants’ Motions to Quash Plaintiff’s Subpoenas to Non-
Parties Empyrean West, Jay Carter and David Keller 
(12/6/2019)  

 
2786-2793 

 
Notice of Entry of Order Granting Defendant’s Motions to 
Quash Plaintiff’s Subpoenas to Non-Party Banks (12/6/2019)  

 
2794-2800 

 
Notice of Entry of Stipulation and Order Regarding Exhibit 
(12/6/2019)  

 
2801-2816 

 
Notice of Entry of Order Denying Plaintiff’s Motion to Quash 
Subpoenas to Plaintiff’s Bank and Accountant (12/6/2019)  

 
2817-2822 

 
Notice of Entry of Order Shortening Time (12/11/2019) 

 
2823-2836 

 
Notice of Entry of Order (12/18/2019) 

 
2837-2840 

 
Notice of Entry of Stipulation and Order (12/18/2019) 

 
2841-2846 

 
Notice of Entry of Order Denying Plaintiff’s Motion to Quash 
Subpoenas to Morales Construction, Top Rank Builders and All 
American Concrete and Masonry (12/19/2019) 

 
2847-2853 

 
Notice of Entry of Order Denying Plaintiff’s Motion for 
Sanctions Related to Defendant EB5IA’s Accounting Records 
(12/19/2019) 

 
2854-2860 

 
Notice of Entry of Order Denying Plaintiff’s Motion to Stay 
Enforcement of Order Denying Plaintiff’s Motion to Quash 
Subpoenas to Bank of America and Lucas Horsfall (01/02/2020) 

 
2861-2866 
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ix 
 

Notice of Entry of Order (01/17/2020) 2867-2874 
 
Statement of Undisputed Facts (01/17/2020) 

 
2875-3000 

  
VOLUME XIII PAGES 
 
Statement of Undisputed Facts (01/17/2020) (cont’d) 

 
3001-3080 

 
Notice of Entry of Findings of Fact, Conclusions of Law, and 
Order Denying Defendant Las Vegas Development Fund LLC’s 
Motion to Dissolve Temporary Restraining Order and to 
Appoint a Receiver (01/23/2020) 

 
3081-3091 

 
Notice of Entry of Order on Status Check Regarding Discovery 
Responses/Plaintiff’s Motion to Compel (01/23/2020) 

 
3092-3095 

 
Motion for Summary Judgment as to the Counterclaims Against 
VNV Dynasty Trust I and VNV Dynasty Trust II (01/23/2020) 

 
3096-3143 

 
Motion for Summary Judgment as to the Counterclaims Against 
Jennifer Piazza (01/23/2020) 

 
3144-3166 

 
Defendant and Counter Claimant LVDF’s Objections to 
Plaintiff and Counter Defendant’s Statement of Undisputed 
Facts (02/03/2020) 

 
3167-3222 

 
Defendant and Counterclaimant LVD Fund’s Opposition to 
Counterdefendant Jennifer Piazza’s Motion for Summary 
Judgment [redacted in district court filing] (02/03/2020) 

 
3223-3239 

 
Defendant and Counterclaimant LVD Fund’s Opposition to 
VNV Dynasty Trust I and VNV Dynasty Trust II’s Motion for 
Summary Judgment [redacted in district court filing] 
(02/03/2020)  

 
3240-3250 
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x 
 

VOLUME XIV PAGES 
 
Defendant and Counterclaimant LVD Fund’s Opposition to 
VNV Dynasty Trust I and VNV Dynasty Trust II’s Motion for 
Summary Judgment [redacted in district court filing] 
(02/03/2020) (cont’d) 

 
3251-3256 

 
Declaration of C. Keith Greer in Support of Defendant and 
Counterclaimants’ Oppositions to Jennifer Piazza and the VNV 
Dynasty Trust I and II Motions for Summary Judgment 
(02/03/2020) 

 
3257-3326 

 
Notice of Entry of Order (02/07/2020) 

 
3327-3330 

 
Motion to Seal and/or Redact Portions of Defendants’ 
Oppositions to Jennifer Piazza and the VNV Trusts’ Motions for 
Summary Judgment to Protect Confidential Financial 
Information, Motion for Order Shortening Time and Order 
Shortening Time (02/11/2020) 

 
3331-3348 

 
Notice of Entry of Order Shortening Time (02/11/2020) 

 
3349-3368 

 
Defendant Las Vegas Development Fund LLC’s Opposition to 
Motion to Seal and/or Redact portions of Defendants’ 
Oppositions to Jennifer Piazza and the NVN Trusts’ Motions for 
Summary Judgment to Protect Confidential Financial 
Information (02/14/2020) 

 
3369-3380 

 
Notice of Entry of Order Regarding February 5, 2020 Status 
Check (02/19/2020) 

 
3381-3385 

 
Notice of Entry of Stipulation and Order Resetting Hearings and 
Briefing Schedule (02/25/2020) 

 
3386-3391 

 
Response to Defendant LVDF’s Objections to Statement of 
Undisputed Facts and Countermotion to Strike (02/28/2020) 

 
3392-3411 

 
Notice of Entry of Order (03/02/2020) 

 
3412-3416 

  



1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

 

 

xi 
 

Notice of Entry of Order (03/03/2020) 3417-3421 
 
Notice of Entry of Order (03/12/2020) 

 
3422-3429 

 
Notice of Entry of Order (04/01/2020) 

 
3430-3436 

 
Notice of Entry of Order (04/01/2020) 

 
3437-3441 

 
Defendant and Counterclaimant Las Vegas Development Fund, 
LLC’s Notice of Motion and Motion for Leave to Amend the 
Countercomplaint [redacted in district court filing] 
(04/03/2020) 

 
3442-3500 

  
VOLUME XV PAGES 
 
Defendant and Counterclaimant Las Vegas Development Fund, 
LLC’s Notice of Motion and Motion for Leave to Amend the 
Countercomplaint [redacted in district court filing] 
(04/03/2020) (cont’d) 

 
3501-3640 

 
Declaration of C. Keith Greer in Support of Las Vegas 
Development Fund, LLC’s Motion for Leave to Amend the 
Countercomplaint (04/04/2020) 

 
3641-3645 

 
Opposition to Motion for Leave to Amend Counterclaim 
(04/17/2020) 

 
3646-3692 

 
Notice of Entry of Stipulation and Order to Replace Exhibit “A” 
to Defendant’s Motion for Leave to Amend the 
Countercomplaint [redacted in district court filing] 
(04/20/2020) 

 
3693-3750 

  
VOLUME XVI PAGES 
 
Notice of Entry of Stipulation and Order to Replace Exhibit “A” 
to Defendant’s Motion for Leave to Amend the 
Countercomplaint [redacted in district court filing] 
(04/20/2020) (cont’d) 

 
3751-3891 
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xii 
 

Notice of Entry of Order (04/28/2020) 3892-3896 
 
Reply in Support of Defendant and Counterclaimant Las Vegas 
Development Fund, LLC’s Motion for Leave to Amend the 
Counterclaim [redacted in district court filing] (04/29/2020) 

 
3897-4000 

  
VOLUME XVII PAGES 
 
Reply in Support of Defendant and Counterclaimant Las Vegas 
Development Fund, LLC’s Motion for Leave to Amend the 
Counterclaim [redacted in district court filing] (04/29/2020) 
(cont’d) 

 
4001-4006 

 
Defendant Las Vegas Development Fund, LLC’s Motion for 
Clarification on Order Shortening Time (05/01/2020) 

 
4007-4016 

 
Opposition to Defendant Las Vegas Development Fund LLC’s 
Motion for Clarification on Order Shortening Time 
(05/11/2020) 

 
4017-4045 

 
Notice of Entry of Stipulation and Order to Extend Discovery 
Deadlines and Continue Trial (Second Request) (05/13/2020) 

 
4046-4056 

 
Amended Order Setting Jury Trial (05/13/2020) 

 
4057-4061 

 
Notice of Entry of Order Granting Las Vegas Development 
Fund, LLC’s Motion to Compel Production of Documents or, in 
the Alternative, Motion for Preliminary Injunction to Address 
Front Sight’s Continuing Violation of Section 5.10 of the 
Construction Loan Agreement and Request for Limited Relief 
From the Protective Order (05/18/2020) 

 
4062-4067 

 
Notice of Entry of Order Granting Defendant and 
Counterclaimant Las Vegas Development Fund, LLC’s Notice 
of Motion and Motion for Leave to Amend the 
Countercomplaint (06/04/2020) 

 
4068-4072 
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xiii 
 

Defendants’ Answer to Plaintiff’s Second Amended Complaint; 
and First Amended Counterclaim [redacted in district court 
filing] (06/04/2020) 

4073-4250 

  
VOLUME XVIII PAGES 
 
Defendants’ Answer to Plaintiff’s Second Amended Complaint; 
and First Amended Counterclaim [redacted in district court 
filing] (06/04/2020) (cont’d) 

 
4251-4262 

 
Notice of Entry of Order Granting Defendant Las Vegas 
Development Fund, LLC’s Motion for Clarification on Order 
Shortening Time (06/05/2020) 

 
4263-4268 

 
Notice of Entry of Findings of Fact, Conclusions of Law and 
Order Denying Plaintiff Front Sight Management, LLC’s 
Motion to Extinguish LVDF’s Deed of Trust, or Alternatively to 
Grant Senior Debt Lender Romspen a First Lien Position, and 
Motion to Deposit Funds Pursuant to NRCP 67 (06/08/2020) 

 
4269-4275 

 
Notice of Entry of Order Denying Plaintiff’s Motion to Quash 
Subpoenas to Summit Financial Group and US Capital Partners, 
Inc. (06/08/2020) 

 
4276-4281 

 
Notice of Entry of Order Denying Counter Defendants VNV 
Dynasty Trust I and VNV Dynasty Trust II’s Motion for 
Summary Judgment (06/08/2020)  

 
4282-4287 

 
Notice of Entry of Order Denying Counter Defendant Jennifer 
Piazza’s Motion for Summary Judgment (06/08/2020) 

 
4288-4293 

 
Notice of Entry of Order Shortening Time (06/12/2020) 

 
4294-4305 

 
Affidavit of Service – Michael G. Meacher (06/16/2020) 

 
4306-4308 

 
Affidavit of Service – Top Rank Builders Inc. (06/16/2020) 

 
4309-4311 

 
Affidavit of Service – All American Concrete & Masonry Inc. 
(06/16/2020) 

 
4312-4314 
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xiv 
 

Affidavit of Service – Morales Construction, Inc. (06/16/2020) 4315-4317 
 
Notice of Entry of Order Denying Front Sight Management 
LLC’s Motion for Partial Summary Judgment With Findings of 
Fact and Conclusions of Law (06/22/2020) 

 
4318-4327 

 
Notice of Entry of Order Granting in Part Motion for Sanctions 
and/or to Compel Actual Responses to Plaintiff’s First Sets of 
Interrogatories to Defendants (06/22/2020) 

 
4328-4333 

 
Notice of Entry of Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law and 
Order Granting In Part and Denying In Part Defendants’ Motion 
for Protective Order Regarding Discovery of Consultants and 
Individual Investors Confidential Information (07/06/2020) 

 
4334-4342 

 
Notice of Entry of Order Denying Without Prejudice Plaintiff s 
Motion for Sanctions for Violation of Court Orders Related to 
Defendants Responses to Plaintiffs Requests for Production of 
Documents to Defendants (07/06/2020) 

 
4343-4349 

 
Notice of Entry of Order Granting Defendants’ Motion for 
Protective Order Regarding the Defendants’ Private Financial 
Information (07/10/2020) 

 
4350-4356 

 
Acceptance of Service on Behalf of Efrain Rene Morales-
Moreno (07/23/2020) 

 
4357-4359 

 
Counterdefendant Jennifer Piazza’s Answer to First Amended 
Counterclaim (08/21/2020) 

 
4360-4386 

 
Minutes of the Court (08/26/2020) 

 
4387-4389 

 
Notice of Entry of Stipulation and Order to Extend Discovery 
Deadlines (09/02/2020) 

 
4390-4403 
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xv 
 

ALPHABETICAL INDEX 
 

 Volume(s) Pages 
 
Acceptance of Service of Counterclaim on 
Counterdefendants Front Sight Management, LLC, 
Ignatius Piazza, Jennifer Piazza, VNV Dynasty Trust 
I and VNV Dynasty Trust II (06/14/2019)  

 
VI 

 
1316-1317 

 
Acceptance of Service on Behalf of Efrain Rene 
Morales-Moreno (07/23/2020) 

 
XVIII 

 
4357-4359 

 
Affidavit of Service on Chicago Title Company 
(10/22/2018)  

 
I 

 
0063 

 
Affidavit of Service on EB5 Impact Advisors LLC 
(10/17/2018)  

 
I 

 
0060 

 
Affidavit of Service on EB5 Impact Capital Regional 
Center LLC (10/18/2018)  

 
I 

 
0061 

 
 
Affidavit of Service on Las Vegas Development 
Fund LLC (10/18/2018)  

 
I 

 
0062 

 
Affidavit of Service on Linda Stanwood 
(10/17/2018)  

 
I 

 
0059 

 
Affidavit of Service on Robert W. Dziubla 
(10/17/2018) 

 
I 

 
0058 

 
Affidavit of Service – All American Concrete & 
Masonry Inc. (06/16/2020) 

 
XVIII 

 
4312-4314 

 
Affidavit of Service – Michael G. Meacher 
(06/16/2020) 

 
XVIII 

 
4306-4308 

 
Affidavit of Service – Morales Construction, Inc. 
(06/16/2020) 

 
XVIII 

 
4315-4317 
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xvi 
 

Affidavit of Service – Top Rank Builders Inc. 
(06/16/2020) 

XVIII 4309-4311 

 
Amended Complaint (10/04/2018)  

 
I 

 
0029-0057 

 
Amended Order Setting Jury Trial (05/13/2020) 

 
XVII 

 
4057-4061 

 
Business Court Order (07/23/2019)  

 
VII 

 
1566-1572 

 
Complaint (09/14/2018) 

 
I 

 
0001-0028 

 
Counterdefendant Dr. Ignatius Piazza’s Answer to 
Counterclaim (09/30/2019)  

 
VIII 

 
1958-1981 

 
Counterdefendant Front Sight Management LLC’s 
Answer to Counterclaim (09/30/2019)  

 
VIII / IX 

 
1982-2005 

 
Counterdefendant Jennifer Piazza’s Answer to 
Counterclaim (09/30/2019)  

 
IX 

 
2006-2029 

 
Counterdefendant Jennifer Piazza’s Answer to First 
Amended Counterclaim (08/21/2020) 

 
XVIII 

 
4360-4386 

 
Counterdefendants VNV Dynasty Trust I and VNV 
Dynasty Trust II’s Answer to Counterclaim 
(09/30/2019)  

 
VIII 

 
1933-1957 

 
Declaration of C. Keith Greer in Support of 
Defendant and Counterclaimants’ Oppositions to 
Jennifer Piazza and the VNV Dynasty Trust I and II 
Motions for Summary Judgment (02/03/2020) 

 
XIV 

 
3257-3326 

 
Declaration of C. Keith Greer in Support of 
Defendant LVD Fund’s Reply to Plaintiff’s 
Opposition to Defendant’s Motion to Appoint 
Receiver (02/26/2019) 

 
IV 

 
0762-0769 

 
Declaration of C. Keith Greer in Support of 
Defendant’s Motion for Receivership (02/06/2019) 

 
III 

 
0559-0601 
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xvii 
 

Declaration of C. Keith Greer in Support of Las 
Vegas Development Fund, LLC’s Motion for Leave 
to Amend the Countercomplaint (04/04/2020) 

XV 3641-3645 

 
Declaration of Robert Dziubla in Opposition to 
Plaintiff’s Motion for Sanctions (09/30/2019) 

 
IX 

 
2041-2044 

 
Declaration of Robert Dziubla in Support of 
Defendant Las Vegas Development Fund LLC’s 
Motion for Appointment of Receiver [redacted in 
district court filing] (02/06/2019) 

 
II / III 

 
0379-0558 

 
Defendant and Counter Claimant LVDF’s 
Objections to Plaintiff and Counter Defendant’s 
Statement of Undisputed Facts (02/03/2020) 

 
XIII 

 
3167-3222 

 
Defendant and Counterclaimant Las Vegas 
Development Fund, LLC’s Notice of Motion and 
Motion for Leave to Amend the Countercomplaint 
[redacted in district court filing] (04/03/2020) 

 
XIV / XV 

 
3442-3640 

 
Defendant and Counterclaimant LVD Fund’s 
Opposition to Counterdefendant Jennifer Piazza’s 
Motion for Summary Judgment [redacted in district 
court filing] (02/03/2020) 

 
XIII 

 
3223-3239 

 
Defendant and Counterclaimant LVD Fund’s 
Opposition to VNV Dynasty Trust I and VNV 
Dynasty Trust II’s Motion for Summary Judgment 
[redacted in district court filing] (02/03/2020)  

 
XIII / XIV 

 
3240-3256 

 
Defendant EB5 Impact Advisors LLC’s Opposition 
to Plaintiff’s Motion for Sanctions (09/30/2019) 

 
IX 

 
2030-2040 

 
Defendant Las Vegas Development Fund LLC’s 
Motion for Appointment of Receiver and Request for 
Order Shortening Time (02/06/2019) 

 
II 

 
0351-0378 
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xviii 
 

Defendant Las Vegas Development Fund, LLC’s 
Motion for Clarification on Order Shortening Time 
(05/01/2020) 

XVII 4007-4016 

 
Defendant Las Vegas Development Fund LLC’s 
Opposition to Motion to Seal and/or Redact portions 
of Defendants’ Oppositions to Jennifer Piazza and 
the NVN Trusts’ Motions for Summary Judgment to 
Protect Confidential Financial Information 
(02/14/2020) 

 
XIV 

 
3369-3380 

 
Defendant Las Vegas Development Fund, LLC’s 
Opposition to Plaintiff’s Second Motion for 
Temporary Restraining Order and Preliminary 
Injunction (03/19/2019) 

 
IV 

 
0837-0860 

 
Defendant Las Vegas Development Fund LLC’s 
Reply to Plaintiff's Opposition to Defendant's 
Motion for Appointment of Receiver (02/26/2019) 

 
III / IV 

 
0741-0755 

 
Defendants’ Answer to Plaintiff’s Second Amended 
Complaint and Counterclaim (04/23/2019)  

 
IV / V 

 
0917-1083 

 
Defendants’ Answer to Plaintiff’s Second Amended 
Complaint and First Amended Counterclaim 
[redacted in district court filing] (06/04/2020) 

 
XVII / 
XVIII 

 
4073-4262 

 
Defendants’ Opposition to Plaintiff’s Motion to 
Quash Subpoenas to Third Parties Bank of America 
and Lucas Horsfall, Murphy & Pindroh, LLP 
(11/6/2019) 

 
X / XI 

 
2479-2655 

 
Errata to Opposition to Defendant Las Vegas 
Development Fund LLC’s Motion for Appointment 
of Receiver (02/22/2019) 

 
III 

 
0731-0740 
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xix 
 

Errata to Supplemental Declaration of Robert 
Dziubla in Support of Defendants’ Opposition to 
Plaintiff’s Second Motion for Temporary Restraining 
Order and Preliminary Injunction (03/20/2019) 

IV 0882-0892 

 
Minutes of the Court (08/26/2020) 

 
XVIII 

 
4387-4389 

 
Motion for Summary Judgment as to the 
Counterclaims Against Jennifer Piazza (01/23/2020) 

 
XIII 

 
3144-3166 

 
Motion for Summary Judgment as to the 
Counterclaims Against VNV Dynasty Trust I and 
VNV Dynasty Trust II (01/23/2020) 

 
XIII 

 
3096-3143 

 
Motion to Seal and/or Redact Pleadings and Exhibits 
to Protect Confidential Information, Motion to 
Amend Paragraph 2.3 of Protective Order, Motion 
for Order Shortening Time and Order Shortening 
Time (02/15/2019) 

 
III 

 
0602-0628 

 
Motion to Seal and/or Redact Portions of 
Defendants’ Oppositions to Jennifer Piazza and the 
VNV Trusts’ Motions for Summary Judgment to 
Protect Confidential Financial Information, Motion 
for Order Shortening Time and Order Shortening 
Time (02/11/2020) 

 
XIV 

 
3331-3348 

 
Notice of Entry of Disclaimer of Interest of Chicago 
Title Company and Stipulation and Order for 
Dismissal (02/05/2019)  

 
II 

 
0344-0350 

 
Notice of Entry of Findings of Fact and Conclusions 
of Law and Order Granting In Part and Denying In 
Part Defendants’ Motion for Protective Order 
Regarding Discovery of Consultants and Individual 
Investors Confidential Information (07/06/2020) 

 
XVIII 

 
4334-4342 
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xx 
 

Notice of Entry of Findings of Fact, Conclusions of 
Law, and Order Denying Defendant Las Vegas 
Development Fund LLC’s Motion to Dissolve 
Temporary Restraining Order and to Appoint a 
Receiver (01/23/2020) 

XIII 3081-3091 

 
Notice of Entry of Findings of Fact, Conclusions of 
Law and Order Denying Plaintiff Front Sight 
Management, LLC’s Motion to Extinguish LVDF’s 
Deed of Trust, or Alternatively to Grant Senior Debt 
Lender Romspen a First Lien Position, and Motion 
to Deposit Funds Pursuant to NRCP 67 (06/08/2020) 

 
XVIII 

 
4269-4275 

 
Notice of Entry of Order (03/19/2019) 

 
IV 

 
0876-0881 

 
Notice of Entry of Order (04/10/2019)  

 
IV 

 
0893-0897 

 
Notice of Entry of Order (04/10/2019)  

 
IV 

 
0898-0903 

 
Notice of Entry of Order (04/10/2019)  

 
IV 

 
0904-0909 

 
Notice of Entry of Order (04/10/2019)  

 
IV 

 
0910-0916 

 
Notice of Entry of Order (05/16/2019)  

 
V 

 
1084-1089 

 
Notice of Entry of Order (06/25/2019)  

 
VI 

 
1318-1324 

 
Notice of Entry of Order (12/18/2019) 

 
XII 

 
2837-2840 

 
Notice of Entry of Order (01/17/2020) 

 
XII 

 
2867-2874 

 
Notice of Entry of Order (02/07/2020) 

 
XIV 

 
3327-3330 

 
Notice of Entry of Order (03/02/2020) 

 
XIV 

 
3412-3416 

 
Notice of Entry of Order (03/03/2020) 

 
XIV 

 
3417-3421 

 
Notice of Entry of Order (03/12/2020) 

 
XIV 

 
3422-3429 
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xxi 
 

Notice of Entry of Order (04/01/2020) XIV 3430-3436 
 
Notice of Entry of Order (04/01/2020) 

 
XIV 

 
3437-3441 

 
Notice of Entry of Order (04/28/2020) 

 
XVI 

 
3892-3896 

 
Notice of Entry of Order Admitting to Practice 
(11/15/2018) 

 
I 

 
0064-0068 

 
Notice of Entry of Order Denying Counter 
Defendant Jennifer Piazza’s Motion for Summary 
Judgment (06/08/2020) 

 
XVIII 

 
4288-4293 

 
Notice of Entry of Order Denying Counter 
Defendants VNV Dynasty Trust I and VNV Dynasty 
Trust II’s Motion for Summary Judgment 
(06/08/2020)  

 
XVIII 

 
4282-4287 

 
Notice of Entry of Order Denying Front Sight 
Management LLC’s Motion for Partial Summary 
Judgment With Findings of Fact and Conclusions of 
Law (06/22/2020) 

 
XVIII 

 
4318-4327 

 
Notice of Entry of Order Denying Plaintiff’s Motion 
for Sanctions Related to Defendant EB5IA’s 
Accounting Records (12/19/2019) 

 
XII 

 
2854-2860 

 
Notice of Entry of Order Denying Plaintiff’s Motion 
for Temporary Restraining Order and Preliminary 
Injunction related to Investor Funds and Interest 
Payments (09/13/2019)  

 
VII 

 
1585-1591 

 
Notice of Entry of Order Denying Plaintiff’s Motion 
to Quash Subpoenas to Morales Construction, Top 
Rank Builders and All American Concrete and 
Masonry (12/19/2019) 

 
XII 

 
2847-2853 
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xxii 
 

Notice of Entry of Order Denying Plaintiff’s Motion 
to Quash Subpoenas to Plaintiff’s Bank and 
Accountant (12/6/2019)  

XII 2817-2822 

 
Notice of Entry of Order Denying Plaintiff’s Motion 
to Quash Subpoenas to Summit Financial Group and 
US Capital Partners, Inc. (06/08/2020) 

 
XVIII 

 

 
4276-4281 

 
Notice of Entry of Order Denying Plaintiff’s Motion 
to Stay Enforcement of Order Denying Plaintiff’s 
Motion to Quash Subpoenas to Bank of America and 
Lucas Horsfall (01/02/2020) 

 
XII 

 
2861-2866 

 
Notice of Entry of Order Denying Without Prejudice 
Plaintiff s Motion for Sanctions for Violation of 
Court Orders Related to Defendants Responses to 
Plaintiffs Requests for Production of Documents to 
Defendants (07/06/2020) 

 
XVIII 

 
4343-4349 

 
Notice of Entry of Order Granting Defendant and 
Counterclaimant Las Vegas Development Fund, 
LLC’s Notice of Motion and Motion for Leave to 
Amend the Countercomplaint (06/04/2020) 

 
XVII 

 
4068-4072 

 
Notice of Entry of Order Granting Defendant Las 
Vegas Development Fund, LLC’s Motion for 
Clarification on Order Shortening Time (06/05/2020) 

 
XVIII 

 
4263-4268 

 
Notice of Entry of Order Granting Defendant’s 
Motions to Quash Plaintiff’s Subpoenas to Non-
Party Banks (12/6/2019)  

 
XII 

 
2794-2800 

 
Notice of Entry of Order Granting Defendants’ 
Motion for Protective Order Regarding the 
Defendants’ Private Financial Information 
(07/10/2020) 

 
XVIII 

 
4350-4356 
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xxiii 
 

Notice of Entry of Order Granting Defendants’ 
Motion to Advance Hearing regarding Plaintiff’s 
Motion to Quash Subpoenas (11/08/2019)  

XI 2656-2660 

 
Notice of Entry of Order Granting in Part and 
Denying in Part Counterdefendants’ Motions to 
Dismiss Counterclaim (09/13/2019) 

 
VII 

 
1578-1584 

 
Notice of Entry of Order Granting in Part and 
Denying in Part Defendants’ Motions to Quash 
Plaintiff’s Subpoenas to Non-Parties Empyrean 
West, Jay Carter and David Keller (12/6/2019)  

 
XII 

 
2786-2793 

 
Notice of Entry of Order Granting in Part Motion for 
Sanctions and/or to Compel Actual Responses to 
Plaintiff’s First Sets of Interrogatories to Defendants 
(06/22/2020) 

 
XVIII 

 
4328-4333 

 
Notice of Entry of Order Granting Las Vegas 
Development Fund, LLC’s Motion to Compel 
Production of Documents or, in the Alternative, 
Motion for Preliminary Injunction to Address Front 
Sight’s Continuing Violation of Section 5.10 of the 
Construction Loan Agreement and Request for 
Limited Relief From the Protective Order 
(05/18/2020) 

 
XVII 

 
4062-4067 

 
Notice of Entry of Order Granting Plaintiff’s Motion 
for Protective Order (11/27/2018)  

 
I 

 
0075-0079 

 
Notice of Entry of Order Granting Temporary 
Restraining Order and Expunging Notice of Default 
(11/27/2018) 

 
I 

 
0099-0104 

 
Notice of Entry of Order on Defendants’ Motion to 
Dismiss Plaintiff’s First Amended Complaint 
(01/17/2019)  

 
II 

 
0333-0337 
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xxiv 
 

Notice of Entry of Order on Plaintiff’s Motion for 
Preliminary Injunction (01/17/2019)  

II 0323-0327 

 
Notice of Entry of Order on Plaintiff’s Motion to 
Disqualify C. Keith Greer as Attorney of Record for 
Defendants (01/25/2019)  

 
II 

 
0338-0343 

 
Notice of Entry of Order on Plaintiff’s Petition for 
Appointment of Receiver and for an Accounting 
(11/27/2018) 

 
I 

 
0069-0074 

 
Notice of Entry of Order on Plaintiff’s Renewed 
Motion for an Accounting Related to Defendants Las 
Vegas Development Fund LLC and Robert Dziubla 
and for Release of Funds (01/17/2019)  

 
II 

 
0328-0332 

 
Notice of Entry of Order on Status Check Regarding 
Discovery Responses/Plaintiff’s Motion to Compel 
(01/23/2020) 

 
XIII 

 
3092-3095 

 
Notice of Entry of Order Regarding February 5, 
2020 Status Check (02/19/2020) 

 
XIV 

 
3381-3385 

 
Notice of Entry of Order Shortening Time 
(02/15/2019) 

 
III 

 
0629-0658 

 
Notice of Entry of Order Shortening Time 
(11/15/2019) 

 
XII 

 
2777-2785 

 
Notice of Entry of Order Shortening Time 
(12/11/2019) 

 
XII 

 
2823-2836 

 
Notice of Entry of Order Shortening Time 
(02/11/2020) 

 
XIV 

 
3349-3368 

 
Notice of Entry of Order Shortening Time 
(06/12/2020) 

 
XVIII 

 
4294-4305 
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xxv 
 

Notice of Entry of Order Staying All Subpoenas For 
Documents and Depositions which were Served on 
Non-Parties by Plaintiff (09/13/2019)  

VII 1592-1599 

 
Notice of Entry of Protective Order (11/27/2018) 

 
I 

 
0080-0098 

 
Notice of Entry of Stipulation and Order 
(12/18/2019) 

 
XII 

 
2841-2846 

 
Notice of Entry of Stipulation and Order Regarding 
Defendants’ Judicial Foreclosure Cause of Action 
(06/25/2019)  

 
VI 

 
1325-1330 

 
Notice of Entry of Stipulation and Order Regarding 
Exhibit (12/6/2019)  

 
XII 

 
2801-2816 

 
Notice of Entry of Stipulation and Order Resetting 
Hearings and Briefing Schedule (02/25/2020) 

 
XIV 

 
3386-3391 

 
Notice of Entry of Stipulation and Order to Extend 
Discovery Deadlines (09/02/2020) 

 
XVIII 

 
4390-4403 

 
Notice of Entry of Stipulation and Order to Extend 
Discovery Deadlines and Continue Trial (Second 
Request) (05/13/2020) 

 
XVII 

 
4046-4056 

 
Notice of Entry of Stipulation and Order to Replace 
Exhibit “A” to Defendant’s Motion for Leave to 
Amend the Countercomplaint [redacted in district 
court filing] (04/20/2020) 

 
XV / XVI 

 
3693-3891 

 
Notice of Intent to Issue Subpoena to Bank of 
America, N.A. (10/22/2019) 

 
X 

 
2379-2459 

 
Notice of Intent to Issue Subpoena to Lucas Horsfall, 
LLP (10/22/2019) 

 
X 

 
2298-2378 
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xxvi 
 

Opposition Memorandum of Defendant Las Vegas 
Development Fund, LLC to Plaintiff’s Motion to 
Seal and/or Redact Pleadings and Exhibits 
(02/19/2019) 

III 0659-0669 

 
Opposition to Defendant Las Vegas Development 
Fund LLC’s Motion for Appointment of Receiver 
(02/22/2019) 

 
III 

 
0670-0730 

 
Opposition to Defendant Las Vegas Development 
Fund LLC’s Motion for Clarification on Order 
Shortening Time (05/11/2020) 

 
XVII 

 
4017-4045 

 
Order Re Rule 16 Conference, Setting Civil Jury 
Trial, Pre-Trial/Calendar Call and Deadlines for 
Motions; Discovery Scheduling Order (08/20/2019)  

 
VII 

 
1573-1577 

 
Order Scheduling Hearing (09/27/2019)  

 
VIII 

 
1931-1932 

 
Order Setting Settlement Conference (12/06/2018)  

 
I 

 
0105-0106 

 
Order Setting Settlement Conference (06/04/2019)  

 
VI 

 
1314-1315 

 
Plaintiff’s Motion for Sanctions (09/17/2019) 

 
VII 

 
1600-1643 

 
Plaintiff’s Motion to Quash Subpoenas (10/29/2019) 

 
X 

 
2460-2478 

 
Plaintiff’s Second Motion for Temporary Restraining 
Order and Preliminary Injunction, Motion for Order 
Shortening Time, and Order Shortening Time 
(03/01/19) 

 
IV 

 
0770-0836 

 
Reply in Support of Defendant and Counterclaimant 
Las Vegas Development Fund, LLC’s Motion for 
Leave to Amend the Counterclaim [redacted in 
district court filing] (04/29/2020) 

 
XVI / XVII 

 
3897-4006 

 
Reply to Opposition to Motion to Quash Subpoenas 
(11/15/2019) 

 
XI / XII 

 
2661-2776 
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xxvii 
 

Reply to Opposition to Plaintiff’s Motion for 
Sanctions (10/18/2019) 

IV / X 2233-2297 

 
Reporter’s Transcript of Hearing (Preliminary 
Injunction Hearing) (09/20/2019) 

 
VII / VIII 

 
1644-1930 

 
Reporter’s Transcript of Motion (Preliminary 
Injunction Hearing) (06/03/2019) 

 
V / VI 

 
1090-1313 

 
Reporter’s Transcript of Motions (Defendants’ 
Motions to Quash Subpoena to Wells Fargo Bank, 
Signature Bank, Open Bank and Bank of Hope) 
(10/09/2019)  

 
IX 

 
2045-2232 

 
Reporter’s Transcript of Preliminary Injunction 
Hearing (07/22/2019) 

 
VI / VII 

 
1331-1513 

 
Reporter’s Transcript of Preliminary Injunction 
(07/23/2019) 

 
VII 

 
1514-1565 

 
Response to Defendant LVDF’s Objections to 
Statement of Undisputed Facts and Countermotion to 
Strike (02/28/2020) 

 
XIV 

 
3392-3411 

 
Second Amended Complaint (01/04/2019)  

 
I / II 

 
0107-0322 

 
Statement of Undisputed Facts (01/17/2020) 

 
XII / XIII 

 
2875-3080 

 
Supplemental Declaration of Defendant Robert 
Dziubla in Support of Defendant Las Vegas 
Development Fund, LLC’s Opposition to Plaintiff’s 
Second Motion for Temporary Restraining Order and 
Preliminary Injunction (03/19/2019) 

 
IV 

 
0861-0875 

 
Supplemental Declaration of Robert W. Dziubla in 
Support of Defendant LVD Fund’s Reply to 
Plaintiff's Opposition to Defendant’s Motion to 
Appointment of Receiver (02/26/2019) 

 
IV 

 
0756-0761 
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STATE OF CALIFORNIA )
) ss:

COUNTY OF SAN DIEGO )

Affiant, being duly sworn, deposes and states the following:

1. I, C. Keith Greer, am an individual and a resident of the State of California, San

Diego.

2. I am one of the attorneys representing the defendants in this action. I make this

Declaration of my personal knowledge and the matters stated herein are true and correct.  If called

as a witness herein, I could, and would, testify competently thereto.

3. During the March 16, 2020 deposition of Rene Morales, president of Morales

Construction Inc. (“Morales”), the testimony revealed what I believe to be strong evidence that

Front Sight and Morales entered into a comprehensive scheme to defraud LVD Fund by falsely

representing that Counter Defendant Front Sight had entered into a legitimate and bonafide

$36,000,000 “Loan Agreement - Construction Line of Credit” with Counter Defendant Morales

Construction, Inc. (“Morales Construction”), that would have provided sufficient capital to make

substantial progress toward completing the project. 

4. The testimony revealed, however, that Morales didn’t perform any due diligence to

determine whether Front Sight could service a debt of $36,000,000, and Morales did not provide

any evidence at all to show that he could provide such a large amount of credit.

5. Moreover, Mr. Morales made it clear that the money to build the Front Sight

Project was never intended to come from the Loan Agreement, but rather was only to come from

EB-5 Investors. 

6. The strong inference was drawn that the “Loan Agreement” was a complete scam

because all of the Counter Defendants knew Morales was not capable of fulfilling its obligation to

extend tens of millions of dollars in credit, and none of the Counter Defendants ever intended to

perform under the Loan Agreement.  Thus, we are seeking leave to add a new First Cause of

2
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Action for Fraud.

7. In addition, financial records produced during the course of discovery show that

substantial funds were transferred to or on behalf of Ignatius Piazza during the past several years,

in violation of the terms of the Construction Loan Agreement and at a time when Front Sight was

insolvent (based on recent analysis by designated accounting experts that was filed earlier today).

Thus, we are seeking leave to add a new Second Cause of Action for Fraudulent Transfer. 

8. Lastly, in the proposed DEFENDANTS’ ANSWER TO PLAINTIFF’S SECOND

AMENDED COMPLAINT;  AND FIRST AMENDED COUNTERCLAIM, attached as Exhibit

A to the memorandum filed herewith, we have addressed the Court’s September 12, 2019 ruling

on Counter Defendants’ motion to dismiss, striking the First Cause of Action for Breach of

Contract and the Second Cause of Action for Breach of the Covenant of Good Faith and Fair

Dealing, and also removing Jennifer Piazza from the Seventh Cause of Action for Waste.

I declare under penalty of perjury under the laws of the State of Nevada and the State of

California that the foregoing is true and correct, and that this Declaration was executed on April 3,

2020 at San Diego, California.

    s/C.Keith Greer____________

  C. Keith Greer
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE and/or MAILING

 

       Pursuant to NRCP 5(b), I hereby certify that I am an employee of Farmer Case & Fedor,  

and that on this date, I caused true and correct copies of the following document(s): 

DECLARATION OF C. KEITH GREER IN SUPPORT OF  LAS VEGAS

DEVELOPMENT FUND LLC’S MOTION FOR LEAVE TO AMEND THE

COUNTERCOMPLAINT

to be served on the following individuals/entities, in the following manner, 

 

       John P. Aldrich, Esq.                            Attorneys for Plaintiff
       Catherine Hernandez, Esq.                   FRONT SIGHT MANAGEMENT, LLC
       ALDRICH LAW FIRM, LTD.
       1601 S. Rainbow Blvd., Suite 160
       Las Vegas, Nevada 89146     

       

By:

 

# ELECTRONIC SERVICE:  Said document(s) was served electronically upon all eligible

electronic recipients pursuant to the electronic filing and service order of the Court (NECRF 9).

   

Dated: April 3, 2020  

        
                                     __/s/ Kathryn Holbert__________________
                                       An Employee of FARMER CASE & FEDOR
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OPPM 
John P. Aldrich, Esq. 
Nevada Bar No. 6877 
Catherine Hernandez, Esq. 
Nevada Bar No. 8410 
Jamie S. Hendrickson, Esq. 
Nevada Bar No. 12770 
ALDRICH LAW FIRM, LTD. 
7866 West Sahara Avenue 
Las Vegas, Nevada 89117 
Telephone: (702) 853-5490 
Facsimile:  (702) 227-1975 
Attorneys for Plaintiff/Counterdefendants 
 

EIGHTH JUDICIAL DISTRICT COURT 
 

CLARK COUNTY, NEVADA 
 

FRONT SIGHT MANAGEMENT LLC, a 
Nevada Limited Liability Company, 

 
Plaintiff, 

 
vs. 
 
LAS VEGAS DEVELOPMENT FUND LLC, a 
Nevada Limited Liability Company; et al. 
_____________________________________ 
 
AND ALL RELATED COUNTERCLAIMS. 

CASE NO.: A-18-781084-B 
DEPT NO.: 16 

 
OPPOSITION TO MOTION FOR 

LEAVE TO AMEND 
COUNTERCLAIM 

  
  

 Plaintiff/Counterdefendant FRONT SIGHT MANAGEMENT LLC (“Plaintiff”), by and 

through undersigned counsel, hereby submits this Opposition to Defendant/Counterclaimant LAS 

VEGAS DEVELOPMENT FUND LLC’s (“LVDF”) Motion for Leave to Amend Counterclaim. 

/ / / 

/ / / 

/ / / 

/ / / 

/ / / 

/ / / 

Case Number: A-18-781084-B

Electronically Filed
4/17/2020 5:45 PM
Steven D. Grierson
CLERK OF THE COURT
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 This Opposition is based on the papers and pleadings on file herein, the following 

Memorandum of Points and Authorities, any exhibits attached thereto, together with any evidence 

or argument presented to the Court at the hearing of this matter. 

 DATED this 17th day of April, 2020. 

      ALDRICH LAW FIRM, LTD. 
 
      /s/ Jamie S. Hendrickson 
      John P. Aldrich, Esq. 
      Nevada Bar No. 6877 
      Catherine Hernandez, Esq. 
      Nevada Bar No. 8410 
      Jamie S. Hendrickson, Esq. 
      Nevada Bar No. 12770 
      7866 West Sahara Avenue 
      Las Vegas, NV 89117 
      Tel (702) 853-5490 
      Fax (702) 226-1975 
      Attorneys for Plaintiff/Counterdefendants 
 

MEMORANDUM OF POINTS AND AUTHORITIES 

I. 

INTRODUCTION 

Defendants seek leave to amend their Answer and Counterclaims to add claims and parties 

to this litigation based upon their skewed interpretation of the March 6, 2020, deposition 

testimony of Rene Morales, the owner and president of Morales Construction, Inc.  Defendants 

seek to add a counterclaim for fraud against Front Sight, Mike Meacher (Front Sight’s Chief 

Operating Officer), Mr. Morales, and three of Morales’ companies (Morales Construction, Inc., 

Top Rank Builders, and All American Concrete; collectively, “The Morales Entities”).  The 

alleged basis for LVDF’s fraud claim is that Front Sight and Morales Construction, Inc. allegedly 

entered into a Line of Credit (the “Loan Agreement” or “Morales Line of Credit”) in October 

2017 whereby Mr. Morales agreed to provide Front Sight $36 million in credit to fund 

construction of the Front Sight Project.  Defendants allege, contrary to the sworn testimony of 

both Mr. Morales and Dr. Piazza, that the Morales Line of Credit is a “scam loan” because, they 

allege, Mr. Morales lacks the ability to extend the credit, and Front Sight had no intention of ever 
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using the Line of Credit in the first place.  According to Defendants, the Line of Credit’s sole 

purpose was to lull Las Vegas Development Fund, LLC (“LVDF”) into a false sense of security 

that Front Sight had obtained senior debt financing for purposes of fraudulently inducing LVDF 

into releasing additional funds pursuant to the Construction Loan Agreement (“CLA”).  See 

Defendant and Counterclaimant Las Vegas Development Fund LLC’s Notice of Motion and 

Motion for Leave to Amend CounterComplaint (“Motion”), Exhibit A at Para. 59-65.  Defendants 

also seek to add a counterclaim against Front Sight and the VNV Trusts for Fraudulent Transfers 

under NRS 112.180 and 112.190.  The alleged basis of Defendants’ counterclaim for Fraudulent 

Transfers is two-fold: 1) Front Sight was insolvent at the time of the distributions from Front 

Sight to the Dr. Piazza and/or the VNV Trusts; and, 2) Front Sight made the distributions, which 

were to related parties, in direct violation of the CLA for purposes of thwarting repayment of 

Front Sight’s financial obligations under the CLA. 

Defendants’ support their Motion for Leave to Amend with the Declaration of C. Keith 

Greer, Esq., wherein Mr. Greer makes a series of representations regarding his impressions of the 

testimony offered by Mr. Morales at his deposition.  Mr. Greer’s representations are not 

appropriate for consideration as evidence by this Court, as they likely violate NRPC 3.7 by 

making Mr. Greer a witness in the proceeding.  Moreover, Mr. Greer’s statements regarding Mr. 

Morales’ testimony, even if admissible and not a violation of Mr. Greer’s ethical obligations, are 

inaccurate descriptions of the facts to which Mr. Morales testified. 

Defendants seek to add counterclaims that are futile because there are no facts to support 

their allegations.  Furthermore, were this Court to grant Defendants’ instant motion, Front Sight 

would suffer severe prejudice from the unreasonable delay that adding new claims involving new 

parties would invariably cause.  Additionally, Mr. Meacher, a representative of Front Sight, will 

suffer prejudice by having to defend against a fraud claim in his individual capacity for alleged 

actions he undertook pursuant to his duties as a corporate officer of Front Sight.  Notably, 

Defendants offer no evidence that Mr. Meacher acted in his personal capacity or obtained any 

personal benefit from his allegedly false statements.  Finally, because Defendants have not 

accurately represented the testimony of Mr. Morales, which is the basis for their proposed 
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counterclaims, their motion is brought in bad faith and should be denied. 

II. 

FACTUAL BACKGROUND 

On October 31, 2017, Front Sight entered into the Loan Agreement with the Morales 

Entities for a $36 million construction line of credit.  See Evid. Hrg. Exhibit 47, at 0313-0331.  

The Promissory Note for the Morales Line of Credit was also executed on October 31, 2017.  Id. 

at 0332-0338. 

At his deposition on March 16, 2020, Mr. Morales testified that he entered the Loan 

Agreement with the intention of enabling Front Sight to complete construction from grading 

through vertical construction of the timeshare villas.  See the Transcript of the Deposition of 

30(b)(6) Witness of All American Concrete, Morales Construction, and Top Rank Builders - Rene 

Morales, March 16, 2020, p. 24:5-11, attached hereto as Exhibit 1.  Mr. Morales further testified 

that he had the ability to fund the entire $36 million Line of Credit.  Id. at pp. 17:19-18:6.  Mr. 

Morales explained that he has significant investments in Mexico and that he makes $10 million 

dollars per year.  Id. at p. 18:6-14.  Mr. Morales further stated that Front Sight entered the Loan 

Agreement with the intent to use EB-5 investor funds to pay down the balance on the Line of 

Credit.  Id. at p. 11:9-15.  Mr. Morales testified that the Loan Agreement contemplated 

progressive billing where Front Sight would make periodic payments on the balance of the Line 

of Credit.  Id. at p. 11:11-13; p. 17:5-7.  Mr. Morales stated that Front Sight charged and paid off 

approximately $4-5 million toward the Line of Credit for work performed to date.  Id. at p. 20:1-

2. 

At no point did Mr. Morales state that Front Sight never intended to use the Line of Credit 

or that he did no due diligence, as Mr. Greer alleges.  Mr. Morales further never stated that he 

lacked the ability to loan the entire $36 million.  He also never stated that he had any reservations 

about Front Sight drawing on the entire loan balance.  See The Declaration of C. Keith Greer, 

Esq. in Support of Las Vegas Development Fund LLC’s Motion for Leave to Amend the Counter-

Complaint, Para. 3-7. (“Greer Declaration”).  In fact, he unequivocally stated the opposite.  Id. at 

p. 26:14-18, p. 41:9-16.  Mr. Morales indicated that he did extensive due diligence prior entering 
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the loan agreement.  Id. at p. 40:16-22, 50:8-23. 

Not one statement made by Mr. Greer regarding the testimony of Mr. Morales can be 

validated by even a cursory review of Exhibit 1.  Mr. Greer’s allegation that the Morales Line of 

Credit is a “scam loan” is completely unsupported, as the testimony of Mr. Morales quite literally 

contradicts Mr. Greer’s every assertion. 

Also contrary to Mr. Greer’s testimony is that of Dr. Piazza, given on September 20, 2019, 

wherein Dr. Piazza corroborates the testimony of Mr. Morales in every respect. Dr. Piazza has 

previously stated that he entered into the Morales Line of Credit believing that it satisfied the 

senior debt provision of the CLA.  Dr. Piazza explained that Defendant Dziubla approved the 

Morales Line of Credit as senior debt that satisfies the senior debt provisions of the CLA.  

Additionally, Dr. Piazza testified that he intended to use EB-5 investor funds to pay off any 

balance charged to the Line of Credit.  Finally, Dr. Piazza stated that he had to pay the Morales 

Line of Credit off out of Front Sight’s operating income when LVDF failed to deliver adequate 

investor funds to service the Line of Credit. 

III. 

LEGAL ARGUMENT 

Pursuant to NRCP 15(c)(2), a party may request leave of the Court to amend pleadings, 

and the Court should grant leave to amend liberally “when justice so requires.”  NRCP 15(c)(2).  

In the absence of any apparent or declared reason -- such as undue delay, bad faith or dilatory 

motive on the part of the movant -- the leave to amend should be freely given. Stephens v. 

Southern Nev. Music Co., 89 Nev. 104, 507 P.2d 138 (1973).  “But parties do not have an 

absolute right to amend their pleadings, even under this liberal standard.”  Sherman v. Winco 

Fireworks, Inc., 532 F.3d 709, 715 (8th Cir. 2008) (citing United States ex rel. Lee v. Fairview 

Health Sys., 413 F.3d 748, 749 (8th Cir. 2005)); see also Hammer v. City of Osage Beach, MO, 

318 F.3d 832, 844 (8th Cir. 2003) (holding that there is no right to amend pleadings).  The court 

considers five factors when assessing the propriety of a motion for leave to amend: (1) bad faith, 

(2) undue delay, (3) prejudice to the opposing party, (4) futility of amendment, and (5) whether 
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the plaintiff has previously amended the complaint.  Nutton v. Sunset Station, Inc., 131 Nev. 279, 

284, 357 P.3d 966, 970 (Nev. App. 2015). 

A. Defendants’ Motion for Leave to Amend is Made in Bad Faith 

"Bad faith is present when an attorney knowingly or recklessly raises a frivolous 

argument, or argues a meritorious claim for the purpose of harassing an opponent." Soules v. 

Kauaians for Nukolii Campaign Comm., 849 F.2d 1176, 1185-86 (9th Cir. 1988) (internal 

quotations and citation omitted).  In Febus-Cruz v. Sauri-Santiago, the Court found bad faith 

where the moving party provided false and misleading information as the predicate reason for 

amending their complaint.  652 F. Supp. 2d 166, 169 (D.P.R. 2009).   

Here, Defendants move for leave to amend in bad faith by providing several misleading 

statements regarding why amendment is necessary; specifically pertaining to: 1) Morales’ ability 

to fund the loan; 2) Morales’ due diligence prior to funding the loan; 3) that Front Sight never 

intended the loan to cover construction expenses; 4) that Front Sight and/or Morales had no intent 

to perform under the loan agreement; and, 5) that Front Sight was insolvent when it made 

transfers to Dr. Piazza and/or the VNV Trusts.  See Greer Declaration, par. 3-7.  

1.  Morales testified that he has the ability to fund the Line of Credit 

In his declaration, Mr. Greer stated, “Morales did not provide any evidence at all to show 

that he could provide such a large amount of credit.”  See Greer Declaration at Para. 4.  Mr. Greer, 

as defense counsel, cannot offer testimony to the Court under NRPC 3.7.  Notwithstanding the 

potential violation of NRPC 3.7, Mr. Greer misstates the testimony of Rene Morales, which offers 

ample evidence of Mr. Morales’ ability to fund the Morales Line of Credit. 

Black’s Law Dictionary defines evidence as “any species of proof, or probative matter, 

legally presented at the trial of an issue, by the act of the parties and through the medium of 

witnesses, records, documents, exhibits, concrete objects, etc.” Black’s Law Dictionary 998 (6th 

Ed. 1990) (emphasis added).  At his deposition, Mr. Morales testified that he has sufficient capital 

to fund the entire line of credit, stating “I’m rich.”  See Exhibit 1 at p. 17:19-18:4.  Mr. Morales 

further stated that he earns $10 million per year and holds substantial investments in Mexico.  Id. 

at p. 18:11-14.  Mr. Morales further testified that Front Sight could draw on the entire $36 million 
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available on the Line of Credit if it decided to do so.  Id. at p. 26:14-18, p. 41:9-16.  Mr. Morales’ 

sworn testimony constitutes evidence of his financial ability to fund the line of credit extended to 

Front Sight. 

2.  Morales testified that he performed adequate due diligence regarding Front Sight’s  
     ability to service the Morales Line of Credit 

Mr. Greer further asserted that Mr. Morales failed to perform adequate due diligence 

regarding Front Sight’s ability to service the Morales Line of Credit before entering into the Loan 

Agreement.  See Greer Declaration at par. 4.  This is incorrect.  Mr. Morales testified that prior to 

deciding to extend credit to Front Sight, he met with Mike Meacher, Front Sight’s Chief 

Operating Officer, reviewed Front Sight’s business plan, performed a background check on 

Ignatius Piazza, and conducted research on the occupancy rates of Nye County hotels regarding 

their booking by Front Sight’s members.  See Exhibit 1 at p. 40:16-22, 50:8-23.  Mr. Morales 

further testified that he is the sole shareholder in his three companies.  Id. at p. 12:12-14.  

Therefore, what constitutes adequate due diligence is solely within his discretion.  No one has the 

right to tell Mr. Morales how he may invest his own money.  Hence, what Mr. Greer or 

Defendants would consider “adequate due diligence” is of no consequence. 

3.  Both Morales and Dr. Piazza testified that Front Sight planned to use the Line of  
 Credit to cover construction costs while using EB-5 funds to pay down the Line of     
 Credit 

In his declaration, Mr. Greer asserted that, “Mr. Morales made it clear that the money to 

build the Front Sight Project was never intended to come from the Loan Agreement, but rather 

was only to come from EB-5 Investors.”  Greer Declaration at par. 5.  Dr. Piazza testified that he 

secured the Morales Line of Credit pursuant to Defendant Dziubla’s representations that EB-5 

investors were waiting on Front Sight to obtain senior debt to commit to the project.  See Sept. 20, 

2020 Evid. Hrg. Tr., p. 132-33, attached hereto as Exhibit 2.  Dr. Piazza indicated that he entered 

into the Morales Line of Credit because Defendant Dziubla stated that a first lender was necessary 

to enable Dziubla to sell additional investors on the project.  Id. Dr. Piazza further testified that 

Front Sight used the Morales Line of Credit while it waited for LVDF to deliver investor funds.  
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Id. at p. 137-38, 215.  Dr. Piazza also testified that he told Mr. Morales that he intended for the 

EB-5 funds to pay down the Morales Line of Credit, but that Front Sight had to do so when 

LVDF did not deliver enough funding.  Id. at p. 216.  Dr. Piazza explained that Defendant 

Dzuibla approved the Morales Line of Credit as qualifying senior debt pursuant to the CLA.  Id. 

at 137. 

Mr. Morales corroborated the testimony of Dr. Piazza.  Mr. Morales stated that he was 

aware that Front Sight had to pay down the Line of Credit out of its own funds when LVDF failed 

to provide sufficient EB-5 funds to complete the project.  See Exhibit 1 at p. 10:10-17.  Mr. 

Morales further stated that Front Sight paid him $4-5million when LVDF failed to provide 

investor funds.  Id. at p. 19:22-20:2.  Not only does Mr. Morales’ testimony rebut Mr. Greer’s 

assertions that Front Sight never intended to use the Line of Credit to cover construction costs, 

Front Sight actually used the Line of Credit for construction expenses. 

4.  The claim that neither Front Sight nor Morales intended to perform under the Line of  
     Credit is patently false 

Mr. Greer characterized the Loan Agreement and the Line of Credit it authorizes as a “a 

complete scam because all of the Counter Defendants knew Morales was not capable of fulfilling 

its obligation to extend tens of millions of dollars in credit, and none of the Counter Defendants 

ever intended to perform under the Loan Agreement.  See Greer Declaration at par. 6.  Mr. 

Morales’ testimony clearly contradicts this assertion.   

Mr. Morales confirmed that Front Sight used the Line of Credit.  Mr. Morales stated that 

Front Sight entered the Loan Agreement intending that Morales would perform all construction 

from grading to construction of the timeshare villas.  See Exhibit 1 at p. 24:5-8.  Moreover, Mr. 

Morales testified that he has prepared plans for vertical construction that are awaiting final 

approval by Dr. Piazza.  Id. at p. 44:23-45:8.  Mr. Morales further stated that his he understood 

that Front Sight intended to use the Line of Credit to complete at least the grading, paving, and 

installation of underground utilities.  Id. at p. 51:8-16.  Mr. Morales testified that he understood 

that Front Sight intended to make periodic payments on the Line of Credit until LVDF delivered 

the total $50 million in EB-5 funds that it promised.  Id. at p. 11:9-15.  Mr. Morales confirmed 

3653



 

9 
 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

that Front Sight had already paid “a few million dollars” out of its own pocket.  Id. at p. 17:1-7.  

He estimated Front Sight’s out-of-pocket payments to date at $4-5 million.  Id. at p. 20:1-2.   

Here, Mr. Morales’ testimony clearly contradicts Mr. Greer’s conclusory allegation that 

neither Front Sight nor Morales ever intended to perform under the Line of Credit, as Mr. Morales 

testified that Front Sight actually used the Line of Credit to fund at least $4 million in 

construction. 

5.  Front Sight was not insolvent at the time it made transfers to Dr. Piazza or the VNV  
     Trusts 

Mr. Greer further asserts, without expert testimony, that “substantial funds were 

transferred to or on behalf of Ignatius Piazza during the past several years, in violation of the 

terms of the Construction Loan Agreement and at a time when Front Sight was insolvent (based 

on recent analysis by designated accounting experts that was filed earlier today).”  See Greer 

Declaration, par. 7.  The “recent analysis by designated accounting experts” referred to by Mr. 

Greer is nothing more than the following conclusory allegation:  “In addition, [Front Sight] has 

paid approximately $14 million dollars between October 7, 2016, and October 31, 2019, from 

[Front Sight] to or on behalf of Piazza, at a time that [Front Sight] was insolvent . . . .”  This is 

taken from a Declaration of Expert Witness Paul A. Zimmer, CPA, CFF, at par. 14.  Mr. 

Zimmer’s analysis was based upon a review of the CLA, Front Sight Tax Returns, and Front 

Sight Bank records.  Id. at par. 11. 

Mr. Zimmer never states how he arrived at the conclusion that Front Sight is insolvent.  

However, later in his expert declaration, he states that Front Sight had ample funds to complete 

construction pursuant to the CLA from EB-5 investor funds, the Morales Line of Credit, and 

Front Sight’s net income from operations in 2017 and 2018.  Id. at par. 15.  Exhibit 5 to the 

Zimmer Declaration lists Front Sight’s net income from operations as positive in 2017 and 2018. 

Id. at Exhibit 5.  Ironically, Mr. Zimmer admits that Front Sight had positive net income in 2017 

and 2018, while in the same moment alleging it was insolvent.  Even more shocking is Mr. 

Zimmer’s assertion that Front Sight had access to $36 million from the Morales Line of Credit, 

the same line of credit that Mr. Greer labels as a sham loan. 
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Black’s Law Dictionary defines insolvency as “lack of means to pay one’s debts. Such a 

relative condition of a man’s assets and liabilities that the former, if all made immediately 

available, would not be sufficient to discharge the latter.”  Black’s Law Dictionary 998 (6th Ed. 

1990).  Defendants have rested their claim that Front Sight is insolvent primarily upon the 

negative balance in Retained Earnings listed on balance sheet portion of Front Sight’s tax returns.  

Front Sight’s accounting expert, Douglas S. Winters, CPA has opined that a balance sheet 

contained in a U.S. tax return is not a sound measure of a company’s solvency because balance 

sheets understate assets values by presenting them at their historical cost values minus 

depreciation.  (See February 27, 2020 Expert Report of Douglas S. Winters, CPA, p. 2, filed under 

seal as Exhibit 4 to Reply to Opposition to Motion for Summary Judgment as to the 

Counterclaims Against Jennifer Piazza (filed March 3, 2020).)  Mr. Winters further opines that 

when the value of Front Sight’s real estate holdings and the remainder of its assets are measured 

at fair market value, Front Sight’s assets exceed its liabilities.  Id. at pp. 2-3, 5.  Finally, Mr. 

Winters states that Front Sights’ net income is sufficient to meet its current financial obligations.  

Id. at pp. 4-5. 

In summary, Mr. Greer offers nothing more than conclusory allegations that Front Sight 

was insolvent when distributions were made to Dr. Piazza.  Defendants’ expert witness offers 

nothing but his own legal conclusions regarding Front Sight’s solvency.  Defendants’ expert fails 

to state how he arrived at his conclusions.  Defendants’ expert further contradicted his own 

conclusion by stating that Front Sight had positive net income in 2017 and 2018.  Finally, Front 

Sight’s expert demonstrates that tax returns are not indicative of solvency; that Front Sight has 

sufficient assets to exceed its liabilities when assets are measured at fair market value; and, Front 

Sight’s net income is sufficient to meet its obligations.  Therefore, Defendants’ claims that Front 

Sight is insolvent are demonstrably false and made in bad faith. 

B. Defendants’ Motion for Leave to Amend is Unduly Prejudicial 

The proposed amendments are not minor in scope and may cause significant prejudice to a 

party where they would add a new defendant, new claims against defendants in their personal 

capacity, entail a lengthy extension of discovery, or a lengthy delay in the start of a trial.  Febus-
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Cruz v. Sauri-Santiago, 652 F. Supp. 2d 166, 168-69 (D.P.R. 2009).  Here, Defendants’ Motion 

for Leave to Amend not only adds new claims, but also adds new parties (Mike Meacher, in his 

individual capacity, Rene Morales, in his individual capacity, and Morales’ three companies).  

Each of these new parties will need to conduct their own discovery.  Each new party may need to 

hire its own experts.  It is very likely that this amendment, if granted, will move the trial date in 

this matter from October 2020 to late 2021.   

1.  LVDF has motive to prolong this litigation for purposes of harassing Front Sight 

LVDF has failed to present any actual facts to show that Mr. Morales lacks the ability to 

fund the Morales Line of Credit.  Therefore, its motive in bringing Mr. Morales into the case 

cannot be because it believes it can prove fraud against Mr. Morales by clear and convincing 

evidence.  It is more likely that LVDF seeks to bring Mr. Morales into this matter to drive a 

wedge between Mr. Morales and Front Sight to prevent Front Sight from completing the project.   

2.  LVDF has motive to prolong this litigation to continue to collect interest payments 

The CLA requires Front Sight to pay interest payments to LVDF during the period that the 

loan is outstanding.  Currently, Front Sight pays $36,000.00 per month in interest payments to 

LVDF.  Defendants would seek to prolong the litigation by seeking to add more parties and more 

claims, and by continuing to allege monetary breaches while refusing to justify the alleged cure 

amount, Defendants simply want to continue to increase those costs.  

C. Defendants’ Motion for Leave to Amend is Futile 

A district court may also deny leave to amend when the proposed amendment would be 

futile--that is, when it could not survive a Rule 12(b)(6) motion to dismiss. Dougherty v. Town of 

North Hempstead Bd. of Zoning Appeals, 282 F.3d 83, 88 (2d Cir. 2002).  "To survive dismissal, 

the plaintiff must provide the grounds upon which his claim rests through factual allegations 

sufficient 'to raise a right to relief above the speculative level.'"  ATSI Comm'ns, Inc. v. Shaar 

Fund, Ltd., 493 F.3d 87, 98 (2d Cir. 2007) (quoting Bell Atlantic v. Twombly, 550 U.S. 544, 127 

S. Ct. 1955, 1965, 167 L. Ed. 2d 929 (2007).  Under NRCP 15, the Nevada Supreme Court has 

defined a proposed amendment to pleadings as futile where the claims would not survive motion 

to dismiss under NRCP 12(b)(5).  Residential Credit Sols., Inc. v. TRP Fund IV, LLC, 457 P.3d 
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245 (Nev. 2020).  Proposed amendments to pleadings may also be futile to the extent that they are 

offered as a “last-second amendment [ ] alleging meritless claims in an attempt to save a case 

from summary judgment.”  Nutton v. Sunset Station, Inc., 131 Nev. 279, 292 [quoting Soebbing v. 

Carpet Barn, Inc., 109 Nev. 78, 84, 847 P.2d 731, 736 (1993)]. 

Defendants assert that their Motion for Leave to Amend is not an attempt to stave off 

summary judgment, stating that Plaintiffs’ motions for summary judgment have been denied.  

Defendant’s Motion, p. 6:4-6.  This is incorrect, as the Court took Front Sight’s Motion for Partial 

Summary Judgment under advisement and has not issued a ruling at this time.  Nevertheless, 

Defendants’ instant motion proposes to add counterclaims for Fraud and Fraudulent Transfer 

against multiple parties.  Front Sight will demonstrate why each of these claims are futile and will 

not survive a motion to dismiss. 

1.  LVDF’s Fraud claim fails for lack of damages 

In their proposed Amended Answer and Counterclaims, Defendants’ assert that Front 

Sight, Dr. Piazza, Mr. Morales, and the Morales Entities entered into a fraudulent loan agreement 

for purposes of improperly coaxing LVDF into releasing EB-5 investor funds and soliciting new 

EB-5 investors.  See Defendant’s Motion, Exhibit A, par. 59-73.  Specifically, LVDF asserts that 

Front Sight “further intended that the fictitious loan agreement would give LVD Fund a false 

sense of security so that it would release funds it was withholding from Front Sight. . . .”  Id. at 

Exhibit A, par. 60. Damages are an essential element of a claim for fraudulent misrepresentation.  

Epperson v. Roloff, 102 Nev. 206, 210-11, 719 P.2d 799, 802 (1986); see also Collins v. Burns, 

103 Nev. 394, 741 P.2d 819 (1987).  

Here, Defendants have no damages, even if Front Sight’s representations regarding the 

Morales Line of Credit were false.  LVDF did not release its own funds to Front Sight.  It released 

investor funds.  For the release of those funds, LVDF and the investors have received interest 

payments in the amount of approximately $36,000.00 per month.  LVDF, therefore, has incurred 

no damages from its alleged reliance on Front Sight’s, and other counter-defendants’, alleged 

misrepresentations.  Because the funds disbursed to Front Sight were EB-5 investor funds and not 

LVDF’s funds, LVDF lacks standing to bring a fraudulent misrepresentation claim against Front 
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Sight because it has not suffered any damages therefrom.  If anything, LVDF has profited by 

receiving interest payments from Front Sight’s use of the loan proceeds.  Furthermore, LVDF was 

under a pre-existing contractual duty to release the EB-5 loan proceeds, which did not depend on 

the validity of the Morales Line of Credit.  The same goes for any claim against Mr. Meacher 

individually.  

2.  LVDF’s Fraud claim fails because LVDF had a pre-existing duty to provide EB-5  
     Investors and market the project 

Pursuant to the CLA, LVDF was required to notify Front Sight within five business days 

when it received funds into its escrow account.  See Evid. Hrg. Exhibit 33, at 0211.  Section 3.1 of 

the CLA further states, “If so requested by the Borrower, Lender will make an Advance of as little 

as $375,000, which represents the available funds from each new EB-5 Investor pursuant to the 

terms of this Agreement.”  Id.  This provision of the CLA was not conditioned upon Front Sight 

obtaining senior debt.  In fact, pursuant to the CLA Section 5.27, Front Sight had until March 31, 

2017, to use best efforts to obtain senior debt.  Id. at 0230.  Under the “Definitions” section of the 

CLA, Front Sight had until December 31, 2016 to use best efforts to obtain senior debt.  Id. at 

0203.  That section only requires Front Sight to use “best efforts” to obtain senior debt.  Id.  

Pursuant to the First Amendment to the Loan Agreement, dated July 31, 2017, the deadline to 

obtain senior debt was extended to December 31, 2017.  See Evid. Hrg. Exhibit 34, at 0245.  

Pursuant to the Second Amendment to the Loan Agreement, the date to use best efforts to obtain 

senior debt was further extended to June 30, 2018.   See Evid. Hrg. Exhibit 36, at 0254.  So, it is 

disingenuous for Defendants to assert that they only advanced EB-5 loan proceeds based upon 

Mr. Meacher’s October 31, 2017 representation that Front Sight had obtained the Morales Line of 

Credit.  There is no provision of the CLA or its amendments that conditions the release of loan 

proceeds upon obtaining senior debt.  Therefore, even if Mr. Meacher’s representation was false 

regarding securing the Morales Line of Credit (it wasn’t), Front Sight still had additional time to 

obtain senior debt.  Shortly after Meacher sent the email correspondence wherein he notified 

LVDF of the Morales Line of Credit, Defendant Dziubla agreed that Front Sight had obtained 

senior debt.  See Exhibit 2, p. 137. 
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Moreover, the parties’ course of performance suggests that obtaining senior debt was not a 

prerequisite to the release of EB-5 investor funds.  Between October 1, 2016 and November 31, 

2016, Defendants released a total of $2,073,128.50 ($1,698,128.50 – October 2016, $375,000.00 

– November 2016) to Front Sight.  See Zimmer Declaration.  Therefore, Defendants cannot 

credibly state that it only released EB-5 funds to Front Sight solely because of Meacher’s October 

30, 2017, representations regarding the Morales Line of Credit.   

To support a claim for fraudulent misrepresentation, Nevada law requires the false 

statement to “play a material or substantial part in leading plaintiff to adopt his particular course.”  

Lubbe v. Barba, 91 Nev. 596, 600, 540 P.2d 115, 118 (1975) (quoting Prosser, Law of Torts, 714 

(4th ed. 1971)).  Here, Mr. Meacher’s representation regarding the Morales Line of Credit is not 

the substantial factor determining LVDF’s decision to release funds to Front Sight when it had 

already released over $2 million dollars in EB-5 funds from investors.  LVDF had already loaned 

significant money to Front Sight under LVDF’s contractual duty to do so.  There is no reason to 

believe that LVDF’s subsequent disbursements were solely based upon Meacher’s representation.  

3.  LVDF’s Fraud claim fails because Mike Meacher did not make false statements  
     regarding the Morales Line of Credit 

Mr. Meacher’s statement regarding Front Sight securing the Morales Line of Credit was 

not false.  Defendants’ assertions that the Morales Line of Credit is a sham loan rest on the 

following assumptions: 1) Morales lacks the ability to fund the loan; 2) Front Sight entered the 

loan under false pretenses without ever intending to draw on the line of credit; 3) Morales entered 

the loan with no intention of ever funding the loan.   

As explained above, the testimony of Dr. Piazza and Mr. Morales have dispelled these 

faulty assertions.  Not only did Mr. Morales testify that Front Sight utilized the line of credit for 

grading work, he further testified that Front Sight paid off the balance that it drew down.  Exhibit 

1 at p. 17:1-7.  So, both Morales and Dr. Piazza demonstrate that the Line of Credit has already 

been used for construction expenses.  This alone vitiates Plaintiff’s alleged fraud claim against 

Front Sight. 
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Even if Morales lacked the ability to fully fund the Line of Credit, this fact alone is not a 

sufficient basis for a fraud claim against Front Sight.  For Front Sight to be liable for fraud, 

Defendants must show more than Morales’ inability to fund the loan; they must show that both 

Morales and Meacher knew that Morales lacked the financial capacity to fund the line of credit at 

the time that Meacher made his representations to Defendants.  Defendants cannot show that 

Morales lacks the ability to fund the loan.  First of all, Morales owns his own companies; so, he 

can choose to extend credit for his own work as he sees fit.  Even if Morales could not fund the 

entire $36 million, where Front Sight relied upon Morales’ representation regarding his financial 

wherewithal, Front Sight cannot have committed fraud.  Meacher would have to know that 

Morales lacked the ability to extend credit to Front Sight for Meacher’s representation to 

Defendants to be knowingly false. Defendants have offered no facts whatsoever to justify the 

conclusion that Morales cannot fund the line of credit, much less that Meacher knew he could not 

do so.  Therefore, Defendants cannot demonstrate that Meacher made false statements to 

Defendants regarding the Morales Line of Credit. 

Additionally, Defendants fail to present evidence that Mr. Meacher acted outside the 

scope of his capacity as a corporate officer of Front Sight or benefitted personally in any way 

from his allegedly false representation regarding the Morales Line of Credit.  If Mr. Meacher did 

not exceed the scope of his authority as an officer of Front Sight or benefit personally from his 

alleged false representation, then there is no basis to bring a fraud claim against him in his 

individual capacity. 

4.  LVDF’s admission of withholding funds from Front Sight is a breach of the CLA 

LVDF’s admission that it withheld funds from Front Sight in October 2017 is itself an 

admission of breach of the CLA.  Front Sight was not in breach of the CLA in October 2017.  

LVDF had a duty to notify Front Sight within five business days of receipt of investor funds.  

LVDF further had a duty to release those funds upon a valid request from Front Sight.  If LVDF 

failed to timely notify Front Sight of receipt of investor funds or failed to remit investor funds 

upon a valid request, then LVDF’s breach of the CLA would prevent it from bringing a breach of 

contract claim against Front Sight for breach of the CLA under the doctrine of equitable estoppel.  
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Since LVDF breached the CLA first, by its own admission, then this Court should grant Front 

Sight’s Motion for Summary Judgment that the Court has already taken under advisement. 

5.  LVDF’s Fraudulent Transfer claim fails because Front Sight was not insolvent 

LVDF has previously asserted that that Front Sight is insolvent because its 2016 tax return 

listed negative balance of Retained Earnings.  (See LVDF’s Opposition to Jennifer Piazza and the 

VNV Trusts’ Motion for Summary Judgment, p. 10).  LVDF fails to mention that Front Sight’s 

Retained Earnings increased from 2015-2018.  (See February 27, 2020 Expert Report of Douglas 

S. Winters, CPA, p. 2, filed under seal as Exhibit 4 to Reply to Opposition to Motion for 

Summary Judgment as to the Counterclaims Against Jennifer Piazza (filed March 3, 2020).)  If a 

negative balance of retained earnings is indicative of insolvency, then LVDF loaned Front Sight 

$6.3 million when Front Sight was insolvent!    

LVDF’s assertion that Front Sight is insolvent relies on the historical cost presentation of 

assets on Front Sight’s balance sheet contained in its tax returns.  Mr. Winters has already opined 

that a balance sheet is not the best measure of a company’s solvency.  Id. at p. 2.  Mr. Winters’ 

report demonstrates that Front Sight was not insolvent at the time of the transfers to the trusts for 

three reasons: 1) the historical cost basis presentation of the assets on Front Sight’s balance sheet 

not determinative of solvency because it presents assets at their historical cost less depreciation, 

which understates the value of Front Sight’s real estate holdings; 2) Front Sight had positive net 

income in each of the three years listed by LVDF; and 3) Front Sight’s Retained Earnings actually 

increased from 2016 to 2018. 

Because the assets on Front Sight’s balance sheet are listed at their historical costs, less 

depreciation, Schedule L of Front Sights tax returns understates its assets.  If assets were listed at 

fair market value, Front Sight would report a higher value of its assets, especially its land.  The 

land for the resort project alone was valued at $25 million pursuant to the recitals in the CLA.  

This was the value of the land in 2016.  It has most certainly appreciated since this appraisal.  

When Front Sight’s real estate holdings are included and presented at fair market value, its assets 

far exceed its liabilities. 
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The difference between assets and liabilities is only one measure of a business’ solvency.  

A business can have assets that exceed liabilities but still be solvent if it has net income from 

operations sufficient to meet its liabilities as they become due.  In fact, most businesses will have 

liabilities that exceed assets at some point during their life cycle due to start-up costs.  In 2016, 

2017, and 2018, Front Sight reported substantial net income.  Mr. Winters explained that Front 

Sight had sufficient earnings from operations to make its transfers to the Trusts without the need 

to use CLA loan funds.  Id. 

6.  LVDF’s Fraudulent Transfer claim fails because the alleged transfers do not violate the  
     CLA 

LVDF’s Fraudulent Transfer claim is based in large part on their incorrect assertion that 

the alleged transfers were made to related parties.  As evidence LVDF presents the same 

arguments that it made in its prior Motions that were denied.  LVDF has provided no expert 

testimony.  LVDF argued that the transfers violate the Section 5.18 of the CLA as distribution to 

related parties.  However, LVDF fails to accurately quote the proper section.  Section 5.18 only 

prohibits distributions to related parties “if any such payment in (a) through (d), inclusive, might 

adversely affect Borrower's ability to repay the loan in accordance with its terms . . . .”  See Evid. 

Hrg. Exhibit 33, at 0227.  Moreover, Section 5.21 allows Front Sight to make distributions to 

related parties for “salary and reimbursement of reasonable expenses actually incurred and 

consistent with the Budget, whether such proposed additional distribution is in the form of 

dividends, interest, returns of capital, distributions of profit, bonuses or any other form of 

distribution.”  Id. at 0228.  These categories are so broad as to permit a variety of transactions.  

Defendants offer no evidence that the alleged transfers do not fall into one or more of these 

categories. 

Even assuming what Defendant says about the existence of transfers is true, Front Sight 

was not in default of any obligations under the CLA at the time of the transfers to the Trusts.  

Furthermore, Front Sight’s transfers to the Trusts did not inhibit its ability to fulfill its obligations 

under the CLA.  Plaintiff reminds the Court that Doug Winters provided an uncontroverted expert 

report, discussed more fully infra, showing that Front Sight was solvent at all times.  (See 
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February 27, 2020 Expert Report of Douglas S. Winters, CPA, pp. 2-4, filed under seal as Exhibit 

4 to Reply to Opposition to Motion for Summary Judgment as to the Counterclaims Against 

Jennifer Piazza (filed March 3, 2020).)  Therefore, Front Sight had the legal right to transfer its 

profits to its shareholders in the form of distributions to the Trusts.  Moreover, LVDF cannot 

demonstrate that funds from the loan proceeds were transferred to the Trusts.  Indeed, even 

Defendants admit that the first alleged monetary default cannot have occurred before July 2019.   

IV. 

CONCLUSION 

Based on all of the above, Plaintiff respectfully requests that this Court deny 

Defendant/Counterclaimant Las Vegas Development Fund LLC’s Motion for Leave to Amend 

Counterclaim. 

DATED this 17th day of April, 2020. 

      ALDRICH LAW FIRM, LTD. 
 
      /s/ Jamie S. Hendrickson 
      John P. Aldrich, Esq. 
      Nevada Bar No. 6877 
      Catherine Hernandez, Esq. 
      Nevada Bar No. 8410 
      Jamie S. Hendrickson, Esq. 
      Nevada Bar No. 12770 
      7866 West Sahara Avenue 
      Las Vegas, NV 89117 
      Tel (702) 853-5490 
      Fax (702) 226-1975 
      Attorneys for Plaintiff/Counterdefendants 
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 

I HEREBY CERTIFY that on the 17th day of April, 2020, I caused the foregoing 

OPPOSITION TO MOTION FOR LEAVE TO AMEND COUNTERCLAIM to be 

electronically filed and served with the Clerk of the Court using Wiznet which will send 

notification of such filing to the email addresses denoted on the Electronic Mail Notice List, or by 

U.S. mail, postage prepaid, if not included on the Electronic Mail Notice List, to the following 

parties: 

Anthony T. Case, Esq. 
Kathryn Holbert, Esq. 
FARMER CASE & FEDOR 
2190 E. Pebble Rd., Suite #205 
Las Vegas, NV 89123 
 
C. Keith Greer, Esq. 
16855 West Bernardo Drive, Suite 255 
San Diego, CA 92127 
 
John R. Bailey, Esq. 
Joshua M. Dickey, Esq. 
Andrea M. Champion, Esq. 
BAILEY KENNEDY 
8984 Spanish Ridge Avenue 
Las Vegas, NV 89148 
 
Attorneys for Defendants 
 
 
  
     /s/ T. Bixenmann_________________________ 
     An employee of ALDRICH LAW FIRM, LTD. 

 
 
 

 

3664



EXHIBIT 1

EXHIBIT 1

3665



·1· · · · · · · · ·EIGHTH JUDICIAL DISTRICT COURT

·2· · · · · · · · ·CLARK COUNTY, STATE OF NEVADA

·3
· · ·FRONT SIGHT MANAGEMENT, LLC, a· · · ·)
·4· ·Nevada Limited Liability Company,· · )
· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · )
·5· · · · · · · · · · · · ·Plaintiff,· · ·)
· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · )
·6· · ·vs.· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · )Case No.
· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · )A-18-781084-B
·7· ·LAS VEGAS DEVELOPMENT FUND LLC,· · · )
· · ·a Nevada Limited Liability Company,· )
·8· ·et al.,· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · )
· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · )
·9· · · · · · · · · · · · ·Defendants.· · )
· · ·_____________________________________)
10· ·and related Cross-Claims.· · · · · · )
· · ·_____________________________________)
11

12

13

14· · · · · · · · · · · · · DEPOSITION OF

15· · · · · 30(b)(6) WITNESS OF ALL AMERICAN CONCRETE,

16· ·MORALES CONSTRUCTION, AND TOP RANK BUILDERS - RENE MORALES

17· · · · · · · · · · · ·PAHRUMP, NEVADA

18· · · · · · · · · · MONDAY, MARCH 16, 2020

19

20

21

22

23· ·ATKINSON-BAKER, INC.
· · ·(800)288-3376
24· ·www.depo.com
· · ·REPORTED BY:· DEBORAH ANN HINES, NEVADA CCR #473, RPR
25· ·FILE NO:· AE02A9F

3666



·1· · · · · · · · ·EIGHTH JUDICIAL DISTRICT COURT

·2· · · · · · · · ·CLARK COUNTY, STATE OF NEVADA

·3
· · ·FRONT SIGHT MANAGEMENT, LLC, a· · · ·)
·4· ·Nevada Limited Liability Company,· · )
· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · )
·5· · · · · · · · · · · · ·Plaintiff,· · ·)
· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · )
·6· · ·vs.· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · )Case No.
· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · )A-18-781084-B
·7· ·LAS VEGAS DEVELOPMENT FUND LLC,· · · )
· · ·a Nevada Limited Liability Company,· )
·8· ·et al.,· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · )
· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · )
·9· · · · · · · · · · · · ·Defendants.· · )
· · ·_____________________________________)
10· ·and related Cross-Claims.· · · · · · )
· · ·_____________________________________)
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12

13· ·Deposition of 30 (b0(6) witness Rene Morales, taken

14· ·on behalf of Defendants, at 861 S. Highway 160,

15· ·Pahrump, Nevada, commencing at 10:28 a.m. Monday,

16· ·March 16, 2020 before Deborah Ann Hines, Nevada CCR

17· ·No. 473, California CSR No. 11691, RPR.
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·1· · · ·Q.· ·And you still have those contracts at your

·2· ·office?

·3· · · ·A.· ·Yes.

·4· · · ·Q.· ·Okay.· So those will be -- that's some of

·5· ·the documents we've asked for that you pull together

·6· ·would be those contracts.

·7· · · ·A.· ·Yeah.

·8· · · ·Q.· ·Do have any contracts now where the work

·9· ·hasn't been completed?

10· · · ·A.· ·Well, the villas.· You know, I have to --

11· ·I'm like 85 percent done.· I have to complete it.

12· ·But Mr. Piazza has stated I guess, I don't know who

13· ·they are, because I'm not familiar, but he says the

14· ·money was coming from some EB5 money and didn't came

15· ·so he had to pay me out of -- like in payments.· So

16· ·we're not doing any more because I guess the EB5

17· ·people didn't come through with that financing.

18· · · ·Q.· ·When did you have that conversation with

19· ·Mr. Piazza?

20· · · ·A.· ·That was like six months ago.· Because we

21· ·were going to build the whole thing.· I give him a

22· ·credit line for like $25 million.· My company,

23· ·they're self-integrated companies, we own Morales

24· ·Construction Trucking Company and all that stuff, and

25· ·we own the gravel pit, and we were going to do the
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·1· ·whole thing, but for some reason I think the

·2· ·financing stopped.

·3· · · ·Q.· ·You said you gave him a line of credit,

·4· ·correct?

·5· · · ·A.· ·Uh-huh.

·6· · · ·Q.· ·So line of credit wouldn't -- that was a

·7· ·construction line of credit, correct?

·8· · · ·A.· ·Yes.

·9· · · ·Q.· ·So typically that wouldn't be paid off until

10· ·the project was completed, right?

11· · · ·A.· ·Well, yeah.· I mean, we agree that he was

12· ·going to pay me a portion, and then whenever he got

13· ·like 50 or $60 million he was going to pay me off.

14· ·But apparently he's -- I don't know.· I don't know

15· ·his deals, but the financing didn't came through.

16· · · ·Q.· ·But that's -- but you are the financing,

17· ·right?· I mean, you give him -- actually it's 36

18· ·million.· You gave him a $36 million line of credit?

19· · · ·A.· ·Yeah, I not even remember how much it was.

20· ·It was in the millions.· It's a lot of money.

21· · · ·Q.· ·And have you extended construction line of

22· ·credits to other builders in the past?

23· · · ·A.· ·Actually, you know, it's small, you know,

24· ·like for a house or things like that.· You know, I

25· ·carry a lot of notes.· I'm a private investor.· I own
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·1· ·investments.· So I carry a lot of notes.· That's one

·2· ·of my main business, I carry people's notes.

·3· · · ·Q.· ·And in this case -- well, let's just kind of

·4· ·jump to that, actually.· Actually, let's do some

·5· ·housekeeping first, actually, before we lose track of

·6· ·things.

·7· · · · · · You're actually here in three capacities,

·8· ·right, because all three of the companies involved,

·9· ·Morales Construction, All American Concrete, and Top

10· ·Rank Builders, those are all your companies, correct?

11· · · ·A.· ·Yeah, uh-huh.

12· · · ·Q.· ·Are you the sole shareholder in all of those

13· ·companies?

14· · · ·A.· ·Yes, sir.

15· · · ·Q.· ·Okay.· So let's -- so I can determine how to

16· ·best proceed in the deposition, do you -- when you --

17· ·the documents that you keep for those companies, do

18· ·you keep them in separate places?

19· · · ·A.· ·Uh-huh.· Yes, sir.

20· · · ·Q.· ·And so would it be better then if we just

21· ·talked about Morales Construction first and then

22· ·talked about Top Rank Builders and --

23· · · ·A.· ·Whatever you want.

24· · · ·Q.· ·-- All American?

25· · · · · · Well, you know what, let's just -- I'm

Atkinson-Baker, Inc.
www.depo.com

30 (b)(6) Rene Morales
March 16, 2020

Atkinson-Baker, Inc.
www.depo.com

30 (b)(6) Rene Morales
March 16, 2020 12
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·1· · · ·Q.· ·And that would be -- there would be no

·2· ·payments made on that until the contract, until the

·3· ·construction is complete, correct?· Isn't that

·4· ·typically what construction lines of credit are for?

·5· · · ·A.· ·The verbal agreement we had, he actually pay

·6· ·me a portion of that.· He paid me like, I don't know,

·7· ·a few million dollars already out of his pocket.

·8· · · ·Q.· ·Have you extended him any credit based on

·9· ·this --

10· · · ·A.· ·Besides the $36 million, no.

11· · · ·Q.· ·No, besides the four million or three or

12· ·four million he's paid you, have you extended him any

13· ·credit at all?

14· · · ·A.· ·No, sir.· No, sir.· That's the only one.

15· · · ·Q.· ·Is there any money owed to you on this

16· ·construction line of credit now?

17· · · ·A.· ·No, sir.· He pay me in full out of his

18· ·pocket, yeah.

19· · · ·Q.· ·And if Front Sight had used this whole line

20· ·of credit to construct the project, and used the

21· ·whole $36 million, are you capable of processing that

22· ·level of debt?

23· · · ·A.· ·Yes, sir.

24· · · ·Q.· ·How so?· Do you have other bank lines of

25· ·credit yourself?· How do you -- how do you service a
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·1· ·$36 million debt?

·2· · · ·A.· ·I'm rich.

·3· · · ·Q.· ·How rich?

·4· · · ·A.· ·Very rich.

·5· · · ·Q.· ·Do you have $36 million?

·6· · · ·A.· ·Yes, sir.

·7· · · ·Q.· ·And is there any way that you can prove

·8· ·that?

·9· · · ·A.· ·You can check my companies.

10· · · ·Q.· ·The companies seem to be --

11· · · ·A.· ·My tax records.· I make $10 million a year.

12· ·I own investments in Mexico and some all over the

13· ·world.· Don't mean to be arrogant, but $36 million is

14· ·not very much.

15· · · ·Q.· ·And those, the documents that we've

16· ·requested from you, some of those documents include

17· ·documents to show that you did have the capability of

18· ·extending that much credit, so we'll go over those

19· ·document demands --

20· · · ·A.· ·No problem.

21· · · ·Q.· ·-- in a bit here.

22· · · · · · And so in the past when you dealt --

23· · · ·A.· ·I'm very humble, okay.· Don't mean to be

24· ·disrespectful, okay?

25· · · ·Q.· ·In the past when you have extended
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·1· ·construction lines of credit, has it worked where the

·2· ·borrower uses the line of credit, builds the project,

·3· ·and then at the end of the day either refinances the

·4· ·project to pay you back or sells the property to pay

·5· ·you back?

·6· · · ·A.· ·You know, I do small loans like for 200,000,

·7· ·250,000.· They normally go get a permanent loan and

·8· ·they pay me off.· I normally lend people a couple

·9· ·hundred thousands.· That's what I normally do.

10· ·That's one of my main business, I lend money.· That's

11· ·it.· But at this capacity, you know, is the first

12· ·time I loan.

13· · · ·Q.· ·So what did the people from Front Sight tell

14· ·you is the reason why they didn't use this line of

15· ·credit?

16· · · ·A.· ·They said that we were supposed to build 240

17· ·villas, and I guess the money didn't come through,

18· ·their financing -- I don't know their business -- is

19· ·what Mr. Piazza said.

20· · · ·Q.· ·So what financing would Front Sight need in

21· ·order to use this line of credit?

22· · · ·A.· ·The whole project is around 60, $70 million,

23· ·but I was going to finance only like 25 million, 30

24· ·million.· And but actually I'm glad that he told me

25· ·that the money didn't come through, and I didn't
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·1· ·spend much money.· You know, he probably paid me like

·2· ·$4 million, 5 million.· I don't remember.

·3· · · ·Q.· ·When you've done work for him, has he ever

·4· ·carried that debt longer than two months or has he

·5· ·pretty much paid right on time with every one of

·6· ·those projects?

·7· · · ·A.· ·He don't pay right on time.· He doesn't.· He

·8· ·doesn't, you know, but he's always good.· Once again

·9· ·I really don't need that money to eat, so that's why

10· ·I work well with him.· Sometimes, you know, 60 days,

11· ·70 days he pay, I don't even know, but he pays.

12· · · ·Q.· ·How long have you known Ignatius Piazza?

13· · · ·A.· ·I would say like six years.

14· · · ·Q.· ·When did you first meet him?

15· · · ·A.· ·Twenty years ago.

16· · · ·Q.· ·And where was that?

17· · · ·A.· ·At Front Sight.

18· · · ·Q.· ·So are you a Front Sight member?

19· · · ·A.· ·No, sir.

20· · · ·Q.· ·No?· So what brought you to Front Sight to

21· ·meet him 20 years ago?

22· · · ·A.· ·I used to work for Wulfenstein Construction,

23· ·and I pave the road, but I was an employee back then.

24· ·Didn't spoke to him directly, just saw him.

25· · · ·Q.· ·And then in the next 20 years then you must
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·1· ·any property.· And if I go and, you know, pick up a

·2· ·shovel and turn the dirt over, you know, my 90 days

·3· ·kick in.· I got more attorneys than friends.· I know

·4· ·my rights.

·5· · · ·Q.· ·So is it your testimony then that you were

·6· ·going to do all of the work for the Front Sight

·7· ·project from grading to putting the roofs on?

·8· · · ·A.· ·Yes, sir.

·9· · · ·Q.· ·And which company would build the villas

10· ·themselves?

11· · · ·A.· ·Top Rank.

12· · · ·Q.· ·So you stood to make a lot of money if this

13· ·contract was actually performed, right?· If you built

14· ·all those villas, if you did all that work, you would

15· ·stand to make a lot of money, right?

16· · · ·A.· ·Not really.· You know, it's ten percent

17· ·profit margin.· It's not that much money.

18· · · ·Q.· ·And so why wouldn't you persuade Mr. Piazza

19· ·to let you build it?· You're building yourself,

20· ·you're fronting the money, you make money doing that.

21· ·There's no downside to them.· They don't have to make

22· ·any payments until the project is over, so why didn't

23· ·you talk to Piazza about getting this done?

24· · · ·A.· ·Well, not necessary.· That's like $60

25· ·million project, that what he wants done out there.
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·1· ·and use this line of credit?

·2· · · ·A.· ·That I don't know.· You know, he probably

·3· ·doesn't want to get in trouble.· I don't know.  I

·4· ·don't know what he's thinking.· But we have done a

·5· ·lot of work out there.· I mean, I've been working

·6· ·there for six years, for a long time.· He pay me

·7· ·millions of dollars already.

·8· · · ·Q.· ·Do you have any other dealings with Ignatius

·9· ·Piazza, other than the building at Front Sight?

10· · · ·A.· ·No, sir.

11· · · ·Q.· ·How about with Mike Meacher.· Any other

12· ·dealings with him?

13· · · ·A.· ·No, sir.· Barely know him, too.

14· · · ·Q.· ·So is it your testimony then that if Front

15· ·Sight wanted to, right now they could get you out

16· ·there on site and put in $36 million worth of work

17· ·under this loan agreement?

18· · · ·A.· ·I'm a man of my word.· Yes.

19· · · ·Q.· ·Okay.

20· · · ·A.· ·What's the date on that thing?· Been a long

21· ·time.

22· · · ·Q.· ·You can have that copy.· I brought an extra

23· ·one.· You have one.· Actually, I think I need...

24· · · · · · MR. ALDRICH:· I think I brought a copy.

25· ·Give me just a second.
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·1· · · · · · MR. GREER:· Okay.· Why don't we just take a

·2· ·short break.· Let's see what we can do to -- it's

·3· ·going to be -- it's a bit challenging without having

·4· ·the documents, but we'll work that out shortly here.

·5· · · · · · · · ·(A recess was taken.)

·6· ·BY MR. GREER:

·7· · · ·Q.· ·We are back on the record.· In deciding

·8· ·whether to extend this line of credit to Front Sight

·9· ·for the 36 million, what, if any, financial documents

10· ·of Front Sight did you review?

11· · · ·A.· ·Nothing.

12· · · ·Q.· ·Zero?

13· · · ·A.· ·Zero.

14· · · ·Q.· ·So you made a $36 million loan to a man you

15· ·met a few times?

16· · · ·A.· ·I met with Mike Meacher and I saw their

17· ·business plan, they show it to me.· I did a

18· ·background check, and they have 200,000 members, thus

19· ·I base my decision on the stability of the company,

20· ·me and my attorneys.· They're very solid, so...

21· · · ·Q.· ·Were there attorneys involved in doing this

22· ·loan agreement?

23· · · ·A.· ·No, just me.· I make the decision myself.

24· · · ·Q.· ·Who prepared the document itself?

25· · · ·A.· ·It was Mr. Piazza and his team, and then it
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·1· ·was Sean Wilson and myself, my office.· It's mutual.

·2· · · ·Q.· ·Did you have an agreement with Front Sight

·3· ·that you would not serve notices of intent to file

·4· ·liens on the project?

·5· · · ·A.· ·No.· We never talk about it.

·6· · · ·Q.· ·But if -- this is a valid document, right?

·7· ·This is --

·8· · · ·A.· ·Yes.

·9· · · ·Q.· ·-- a valid contract?· So if Front Sight,

10· ·Ignatius Piazza, Mike Meacher, decided they wanted to

11· ·build a project and use this whole $36 million to do

12· ·it, could they?

13· · · ·A.· ·Yes.

14· · · ·Q.· ·Okay.· You could provide all the work, you

15· ·could carry the debt financing up to $36 million?

16· · · ·A.· ·Yes, sir.

17· · · ·Q.· ·Okay.

18· · · ·A.· ·Otherwise I never would have.

19· · · ·Q.· ·I'm going to hand you Exhibit 4.· That's the

20· ·line of credit.· And look at definition 1.1.3, Senior

21· ·Debt.· It says, "Means the additional loan that will

22· ·be sought by Borrower, and which Borrower will use

23· ·its best efforts to obtain, from a traditional

24· ·financial institution specializing in financing

25· ·projects such as the Project."· Do you recall having
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·1· · · ·Q.· ·That was the grading?

·2· · · ·A.· ·Uh-huh.

·3· · · ·Q.· ·Yes?

·4· · · ·A.· ·Yes, sir.

·5· · · ·Q.· ·But you also built 25 ranges in the last

·6· ·couple of years, right?

·7· · · ·A.· ·Yes, sir.

·8· · · ·Q.· ·Okay.· When did you start working on

·9· ·building those last 25 ranges?

10· · · ·A.· ·I don't recall.

11· · · ·Q.· ·Are they completed now?

12· · · ·A.· ·Yes, sir.

13· · · ·Q.· ·During the course of the work that you've

14· ·done at Front Sight, at any time have you used Front

15· ·Sight employees in order to help with constructing

16· ·the project?

17· · · ·A.· ·No, sir.

18· · · ·Q.· ·Are you aware of any work with regard to the

19· ·ranges themselves or the villas, are you aware of any

20· ·work that Front Sight has done with its own

21· ·employees?

22· · · ·A.· ·No, sir.

23· · · ·Q.· ·Have you seen any plans for the project?

24· · · ·A.· ·I created the plans.

25· · · ·Q.· ·So you have them?
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·1· · · ·A.· ·Yeah.

·2· · · ·Q.· ·You have those at your office?

·3· · · ·A.· ·Yes, sir.

·4· · · ·Q.· ·What are the plans for?

·5· · · ·A.· ·To construct villas.

·6· · · ·Q.· ·So you have literally the project plan for

·7· ·from grading to completion at your office?

·8· · · ·A.· ·Yes, sir.

·9· · · ·Q.· ·Outstanding.· Are those saved on the

10· ·computer, too?

11· · · ·A.· ·Yes, sir.

12· · · ·Q.· ·Are those -- have those plans been approved

13· ·by any governmental agencies?

14· · · ·A.· ·No, sir.· Like I said, the money stopped so

15· ·everything stopped.

16· · · ·Q.· ·Okay.· So what would be the next step?· Who

17· ·prepared the plans?

18· · · ·A.· ·My team.

19· · · ·Q.· ·So you and who else worked on it with you?

20· · · ·A.· ·Sean Wilson.

21· · · ·Q.· ·And do you have a budget for the cost of the

22· ·project?

23· · · ·A.· ·It goes up and down.· No, we don't have

24· ·anything set right now.· It's like 70 million,

25· ·somewhere in the area.· Like I said, everything
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·1· ·members.

·2· · · · · · MR. ALDRICH:· And the business plan you said

·3· ·you looked at, too, right?

·4· · · · · · THE WITNESS:· Yes.

·5· ·BY MR. GREER:

·6· · · ·Q.· ·And do you have a copy of that business

·7· ·plan?

·8· · · ·A.· ·No.· No.· No.· You know, I talked very

·9· ·extensively, because, you know, when you're going to

10· ·extend a line of credit for $30-some million, you

11· ·need to know what's behind it.· And it just makes

12· ·sense.

13· · · · · · What make me motivated, you know, is

14· ·because, like when you build a hotel, like Holiday

15· ·Inn, you expect, you know, for people to come to your

16· ·hotel.· They already have the customers there.· You

17· ·know, they have two hundred and some thousand

18· ·members.

19· · · · · · And I did a background check.· And most of

20· ·the hotels here in Pahrump, you know, they're being

21· ·filled by Front Sight members, so that's a reason I

22· ·decide to invest in the project.· It just makes

23· ·sense.

24· · · ·Q.· ·Do you have any type of ownership interest

25· ·in the project?
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·1· · · ·A.· ·(Shakes head.)

·2· · · ·Q.· ·No?

·3· · · ·A.· ·Zero.· I'm not even a member.

·4· · · ·Q.· ·Who would you consider to be the point

·5· ·person at Front Sight generally when you deal with

·6· ·them?

·7· · · ·A.· ·Mike Meacher.

·8· · · ·Q.· ·Okay.· Did Front Sight ever explain to you

·9· ·how they intended to use the line of credit, what

10· ·they wanted to use it for?

11· · · ·A.· ·Yes.

12· · · ·Q.· ·Can you please share that with us?

13· · · ·A.· ·Well, they wanted to do all the grading,

14· ·paving, and underground utilities and all that stuff.

15· · · ·Q.· ·That's what they wanted to use the line of

16· ·credit for?

17· · · ·A.· ·Uh-huh.

18· · · ·Q.· ·Okay.· So the line of credit wasn't going to

19· ·be for the building of the vertical structures?

20· · · ·A.· ·Well, they didn't specify.· I just give them

21· ·a line of credit.· I mean, they can use it for

22· ·whatever.

23· · · ·Q.· ·That's because it wouldn't cost $36 million

24· ·to do all of the grading?

25· · · ·A.· ·I mean, with the sewage treatment plant and
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A. Your Honor, there is only one person in this

room that truly cares about these immigrant investors'

visas and the project, and that's me.  I'm -- I'm the

one that kept this project going when Robert Dziubla

was starving it and not giving us the money that he had

to put into the project.  I'm the only one that's kept

it going in spite of this frivolous and fraudulent

foreclosure action that had no merit that caused us to

lose an investment banker loan.

We are -- we've tried to build this as quickly

as we possibly can with the limited funds that we

received.  This was supposed to be initially a

$150 million project.  Then he said he could not

provide 150 million.  He could provide 75.  So we had

to scale the project back.

Then he comes to us and says, "Well, we can

provide 50 on the back end as a fully subordinated

second, but you have to go out and find a $25 million

first," and we did.  We went through all of the ugliest

types of lenders you can possibly imagine, and we had

to turn down most of those.  But we were able to secure

the Morales construction loan agreement.  

But here's the kicker there:  Dziubla kept

telling us, "You got to get me that first -- that first

lender so that I can then go out and secure the rest of
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these investors.  They're all waiting for that first

lender."  So we went out and secured the first lender,

the Morales construction loan.  But Dziubla knew

because we told him how it was going to work.  Morales

would start the building, and it was the EB5 money

coming in that would pay down that construction loan.

He understood that.

So we secured the Morales loan so that he

could point out to his agents and his investors that

Front Sight has secured a first lender.  We get Morales

started on it and then Dziubla doesn't come through

with any further money.  So we were on the hook, and

we've paid down that -- those construction costs that

Morales provided.  We paid it down.  Even though

Dziubla starved the project, didn't provide anything

else, we have -- we are the ones that have paid him

down.

So it was -- it was the best that we can do

under those circumstances.  And under the loan

contract, that's all we were asked to do is the best we

can do, and we found it for him.

We've since now found another lender who's

willing to loan and now we're at this point where we've

created the jobs, and we've got a lender that will

basically take Dziubla out and we can move the project
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that he has expertise in the area of EB5.  

MR. ALDRICH:  And I'm not asking the question

as an expert.  I'm asking him a question as to what he

knows, and he's testified what it's based on.

THE COURT:  Okay.  I'll sustain as far as the

hearsay statements are concerned.

BY MR. ALDRICH:  

Q. All right.  So you talked on this a little

bit, but the fifth alleged default is failure to obtain

senior debt.  You've mentioned a little bit about the

conversations you had with Mr. Dziubla on the Morales

loan.  Did Mr. Dziubla tell you that the Morales loan

would count as senior debt?  

A. Not only did Mr. Dziubla tell us the Morales

construction line of credit would count as senior debt,

his exact words were, "Ooh, this is very good."  

And he then sent out an email or some

communication to his agents.  It's in the -- it's in

the evidence -- where he tells them he's happy to state

that Front Sight has secured senior debt.  So for him

to then claim that we were in default because we

didn't -- didn't secure senior debt is, you know,

absolutely ridiculous.

And we were using the senior debt.  Morales

was working.  We were waiting for Dziubla to bring in
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all these investors that he said he had once we secured

senior debt.  They never came.  So we were on the hook

and had to pay off Morales.

Q. And the sixth alleged default is failure to

provide monthly project costs.  What is your response

to that?

A. Monthly project costs.  We would send out

video construction progress updates.  Video.  Not some

paper stuff.  Actual video.  We sent it out to our

members.  We sent it to Dziubla to show exactly what

was happening on the site.  Time lapse video of all

the -- all the heavy equipment running around the site.

The costs were essentially the invoices that

we ended up providing him when he requested those

invoices.

Q. All right.

A. And let me add one more thing to that.  We

made it very clear when we negotiated the construction

loan agreement that we did not want to be involved with

monthly anything.  The deal was we provided at the end

of the year all of the documentation.  This was

negotiated between our two attorneys and Dziubla and

his attorneys.  So this idea that he now comes back and

says, Oh, you're in default because you're not

providing all this stuff monthly.  It was never
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he needed a first in -- he needed a US lender in first

position.  He knew that when we took that line of

credit, that we were expecting that we would pull down

on that line of credit and then his EB5 money would pay

it back down.  So the 36 million of the line of credit

would have worked out great if he would have funded --

if Dziubla would have funded 36 million.

We signed that line of credit.  We got the

project started.  Dziubla was supposed to provide us --

because he said -- he told us, "You get that first in

position, I've got all these lenders -- all these

immigrants that want to come into this project, but

they're waiting for a first -- a first lender."

So we got the first lender in the form of a

line of credit.  We started the project with the line

of credit -- or started having Morales do the work and

then, lo and behold, Dziubla doesn't come through with

the money, and we're stuck holding the bag, and now we

have to pay him off.  

It was never, ever, ever designed for Morales

to provide 36 million and not get paid back by EB5.  He

carried it as far as we could.  We continued to pay it

off.  And -- and Dziubla never followed through with

the money.  And we had discussions, personal

discussions about this before we signed that agreement
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with Morales.

Q. Morales isn't in a first position over Las

Vegas Development Fund, correct?  It's not senior debt?

A. It is senior debt because he represented it as

senior debt, and he knew -- this is the other thing

about this.  We told him, This is great because it's

senior debt.  And he said, yes, it is.  Oh, that's very

good.  I told him that Morales would not be in a first

position because he has the mechanics' lien ability to

apply a first position under the mechanic's lien, which

is a senior lien to a first mortgage.

And Dziubla said, oh, that's great.  And he

then sent out the information to his agents and

investors telling them that we had a senior loan in

place.  So it's, again, ridiculous that he would claim

we don't and say that we're in default.

The problem was he -- Morales -- was willing

to do the work, but we told Morales that the EB5 money

would be paying him down.  And EB5 money never came in,

therefore, we had to pay him down.

Q. So that isn't -- so you're -- so that's a

sham?  That's just -- there's not really a $36 million

line of credit, is there?

A. I would not say it was a sham.  It was a $36

million line of credit.  However -- however, Morales
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DISTRICT COURT

CLARK COUNTY, NEVADA

FRONT SIGHT MANAGEMENT LLC, a
Nevada Limited Liability Company,

Plaintiff,

vs.

LAS VEGAS DEVELOPMENT FUND LLC, a
Nevada Limited Liability Company; et al,

Defendants.

__________________________________________

AND ALL RELATED COUNTERCLAIMS.

Case No. A-18-781084-B
Dept. No. XVI

NOTICE OF ENTRY OF STIPULATION
AND ORDER TO REPLACE EXHIBIT
“A” TO DEFENDANT’S MOTION FOR
LEAVE TO AMEND THE
COUNTERCOMPLAINT

NTSO
JOHN R. BAILEY

Nevada Bar No. 0137
JOSHUA M. DICKEY

Nevada Bar No. 6621
ANDREA M. CHAMPION

Nevada Bar No. 13461
BAILEYKENNEDY
8984 Spanish Ridge Avenue
Las Vegas, Nevada 89148-1302
Telephone: 702.562.8820
Facsimile: 702.562.8821
JBailey@BaileyKennedy.com
JDickey@BaileyKennedy.com
AChampion@BaileyKennedy.com

C. KEITH GREER, ESQ.
Cal. Bar. No. 135537 (Pro Hac Vice)
GREER AND ASSOCIATES, A PC
16855 West Bernardo Dr. Suite 255
San Diego, California 92127
Telephone: 858.613.6677
Facsimile: 858.613.6680
keith.greer@greerlaw.biz

Attorneys for Defendants
LAS VEGAS DEVELOPMENT FUND LLC;
EB5 IMPACT CAPITAL REGIONAL CENTER
LLC; EB5 IMPACT ADVISORS LLC; ROBERT
W. DZIUBLA; JON FLEMING; and
LINDA STANWOOD

Case Number: A-18-781084-B

Electronically Filed
4/20/2020 3:51 PM
Steven D. Grierson
CLERK OF THE COURT
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PLEASE TAKE NOTICE that a Stipulation and Order to Replace Exhibit “A” to

Defendants’ Motion for Leave to Amend the Countercomplaint was entered on April 17, 2020; a true

and correct copy of which is attached hereto.

DATED this 20th day of April, 2020.

BAILEYKENNEDY

By: /s/ Andrea M. Champion
JOHN R. BAILEY

JOSHUA M. DICKEY

ANDREA M. CHAMPION

Attorney for Defendants
LAS VEGAS DEVELOPMENT FUND
LLC; EB5 IMPACT CAPITAL
REGIONAL CENTER LLC; EB5 IMPACT
ADVISORS LLC; ROBERT W.
DZIUBLA; JON FLEMING; and LINDA
STANWOOD
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE

I certify that I am an employee of BAILEYKENNEDY and that on the 20th day of April,

2020, service of the foregoing NOTICE OF ENTRY OF STIPULATION AND ORDER TO

REPLACE EXHIBIT “A” TO DEFENDANTS’ MOTION FOR LEAVE TO AMEND THE

COUNTERCOMPLAINT was made by mandatory electronic service through the Eighth Judicial

District Court’s electronic filing system and/or by depositing a true and correct copy in the U.S.

Mail, first class postage prepaid, and addressed to the following at their last known address:

JOHN P. ALDRICH

CATHERINE HERNANDEZ

ALDRICH LAW FIRM, LTD.
7866 West Sahara Avenue
Las Vegas, Nevada 89117

Email: jaldrich@johnaldrichlawfirm.com

Attorneys for Plaintiff
FRONT SIGHT MANAGEMENT LLC

/s/ Samantha T. Kishi
Employee of BAILEYKENNEDY
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DISTRICT COURT

CLARK COUNTY, NEVADA

FRONT SIGHT MANAGEMENT LLC, a
Nevada Limited Liability Company,

Plaintiff,

vs.

LAS VEGAS DEVELOPMENT FUND LLC, a
Nevada Limited Liability Company; et al,

Defendants.

_______________________________________

AND ALL RELATED COUNTERCLAIMS.

Case No. A-18-781084-B
Dept. No. XVI

STIPULATION AND ORDER TO
REPLACE EXHIBIT “A” TO
DEFENDANT’S MOTION FOR LEAVE
TO AMEND THE
COUNTERCOMPLAINT

SAO
JOHN R. BAILEY

Nevada Bar No. 0137
JOSHUA M. DICKEY

Nevada Bar No. 6621
ANDREA M. CHAMPION

Nevada Bar No. 13461
BAILEYKENNEDY
8984 Spanish Ridge Avenue
Las Vegas, Nevada 89148-1302
Telephone: 702.562.8820
Facsimile: 702.562.8821
JBailey@BaileyKennedy.com
JDickey@BaileyKennedy.com
AChampion@BaileyKennedy.com

C. KEITH GREER, ESQ.
Cal. Bar. No. 135537 (Pro Hac Vice)
GREER AND ASSOCIATES, A PC
16855 West Bernardo Dr. Suite 255
San Diego, California 92127
Telephone: 858.613.6677
Facsimile: 858.613.6680
keith.greer@greerlaw.biz

Attorneys for Defendants
LAS VEGAS DEVELOPMENT FUND LLC;
EB5 IMPACT CAPITAL REGIONAL CENTER
LLC; EB5 IMPACT ADVISORS LLC; ROBERT
W. DZIUBLA; JON FLEMING; and
LINDA STANWOOD

Case Number: A-18-781084-B

Electronically Filed
4/17/2020 3:16 PM
Steven D. Grierson
CLERK OF THE COURT
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IT IS HEREBY STIPULATED AND AGREED, by and between the Parties, Plaintiff Front

Sight Management, LLC, by and through its attorney, John P. Aldrich of Aldrich Law Firm, Ltd. and

Defendants Las Vegas Development Fund, LLC, et al., through their attorneys, C. Keith Greer of

Greer & Associates, A.P.C. and Andrea M. Champion of BaileyKennedy, as follows:

1. On April 3, 2020, Defendants filed a Motion for Leave to Amend the

Countercomplaint. Attached as Exhibit “A” to the Motion for Leave to Amend was a proposed

Answer and First Amended Counterclaim (the “Exhibit”).

2. Plaintiff has objected to certain information in the Exhibit being filed in the public

domain, contending that it should be treated as confidential information (and not publicly available).

3. Defendants disagree and contend that the proposed First Amended Counterclaim does

not violate the protective order that has been entered in this case or contain confidential or

proprietary information.

4. While the parties’ respective positions are unchanged, they have agreed that the

Exhibit should be removed from the public record and replaced with a redacted version (a copy of

which is attached hereto as Exhibit A) until they have a chance to brief this issue for the Court and

until the Court determines whether the Exhibit should remain redacted.

5. The parties further stipulate and agree that the Defendants will file a motion

addressing this issue and that Plaintiff will not oppose such a motion being heard on shortened time.

///

///

///

///

///

///

///

///

///

///
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6. No party waives, and all parties specifically reserve, any and all rights, defenses, and

legal arguments they may have with regard to the Motion for Leave to Amend and the proposed First

Amended Counterclaim.

IT IS SO STIPULATED.

Dated this 16th day of April, 2020 Dated this 16th day of April, 2020

ALDRICH LAW FIRM, LTD BAILEYKENNEDY

/s/ John P. Aldrich /s/ Andrea M. Champion
John P. Aldrich, Esq. John R. Bailey, Esq.
7866 West Sahara Ave. Joshua M. Dickey, Esq.
Las Vegas, Nevada 89117 Andrea M. Champion, Esq.
Attorney for Plaintiff 8984 West Spanish Ridge Ave.

Las Vegas, Nevada 89148
Attorney for Defendants

ORDER

IT IS HEREBY ORDERED, pursuant to the above and foregoing stipulation of the parties,

that the Court Clerk shall replace the unredacted version of Exhibit A to Defendant’s filed Motion

for Leave to Amend the Countercomplaint with the redacted version, which is attached to the parties’

stipulation, and will ensure that the unredacted version of Exhibit A is no longer accessible in the

public domain.

///

///

///

///

///

///

///

///

///

///
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IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that the rights, defenses and legal arguments the parties may

have regarding both the Motion for Leave to Amend the Countercomplaint and the proposed First

Amended Counterclaim attached thereto as Exhibit “A” are hereby reserved.

DATED this _______ day of __________, 2020.

__________________________
DISTRICT COURT JUDGE

Submitted by:
BAILEYKENNEDY

/s/ Andrea M. Champion
JOHN R. BAILEY

JOSHUA M. DICKEY

ANDREA M. CHAMPION

Attorneys for Defendants
LAS VEGAS DEVELOPMENT FUND LLC;
EB5 IMPACT CAPITAL REGIONAL CENTER
LLC; EB5 IMPACT ADVISORS LLC; ROBERT
W. DZIUBLA; JON FLEMING; and
LINDA STANWOOD

17th April
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